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CORPORATE INFORMATION

 MANAGER

Sentral REIT Management  
Sdn. Bhd.

 REGISTERED ADDRESS OF 
 THE MANAGER

 PRINCIPAL PLACE OF 
 BUSINESS OF THE MANAGER

 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 OF THE MANAGER

Non-Independent
Non-Executive Directors
Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon 

Independent
Non-Executive Directors

Othman
Frances Po Yih Ming

 SECRETARY OF THE 
 MANAGER

Yahaya

 BANKERS

 
 
 STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

 WEBSITE

https://sentralreit.com  

 TRUSTEE

 PROPERTY MANAGER

Zaharin Nexcap Property 

 REGISTRAR

Boardroom Share Registrars 
Sdn. Bhd.

 AUDITOR

 TAX AGENT

Sdn. Bhd.

 INTERNAL AUDITOR

Sdn. Bhd.

SENTRAL REIT



SALIENT FEATURES OF SENTRAL REIT (“SENTRAL”)

Category of Fund

Type of Fund Income and growth

Termination Date /
Duration of the Fund

Approved Fund Size

Investment Objective

Distribution Policy

Manager’s Fee

income

Trustee’s Fee

Financial Year End

Board Lot

Listing 

Stock Name

Stock Code

Date of Listing

CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW



To acquire and invest in commercial 
properties primarily in Malaysia with 

a view to provide long-term growth 
and sustainable distribution of 

income to unitholders to achieve 
long-term growth in the net asset 

value (“NAV”) per unit. 

Listed as Quill Capita Trust on 8 
January 2007. 
Changed its name to 
MRCB-Quill REIT effective on 14 
April 2015 following a change in 
sponsors.
Changed its name to SENTRAL        
following a rebranding exercise 

on 11 January 2021.

Maybank 
Trustees 
Berhad 

(“Trustee”)

Sentral REIT 
Management 

Sdn Bhd
(“Manager”)(1)

Quill Building 1 – DHL1
Quill Building 4 – DHL2
Quill Building 2
Quill Building 3 – BMW

Wisma TechnipFMC
Part of Plaza Mont’ Kiara
Lotuss Building Penang

Platinum Sentral
Menara Shell

Management
services

Management
fee

Property 
management 

services

Property 
management 

fee

nership of
assets (vested in 

Trustee)

Rental and other 
income

Acts on behalf
of Unitholders

Trustee’s fee

Distribution in the
form of dividends &
other distributions

Investment in SENTRAL

Unitholders

SENTRAL Structure

Portfolio AssetsZaharin Nexcap 
Property 

Consultants 
Sdn Bhd

(“Property 
Manager”)

Note:  
(1)  The Manager had on 6 October 2022 

announced that the existing 
shareholders of SRM, namely Quill 
Resources Holding Sdn Bhd (“QRH”) 
and Malaysian Resources Corporation 
Berhad (“MRCB”) had on 4 October 
2022 entered into a Share Sale 
Agreement, whereby QRH has agreed 
to dispose their 39% shareholding in 
SRM to MRCB. The disposal exercise 
was completed on 19 January 2023 
with the new shareholding of the 
Manager comprising of MRCB (80%) 
and Global Jejaka Sdn Bhd (20%).

Investment
Objective

Background of
SENTRAL

TRUST STRUCTURE

SENTRAL REIT



Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Directors

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon 
(Chairman)
Ann Wan Tee
Kwan Joon Hoe

Independent Non-Executive 
Directors

Datuk Dr. Roslan bin A. Ghaffar

Frances Po Yih Ming 

Datuk Dr. Roslan bin A. Ghaffar 
(Chairman)

Frances Po Yih Ming 

(Chairman)
Datuk Dr. Roslan bin A. Ghaffar 
Frances Po Yih Ming
Ann Wan Tee 

Board of Directors Audit and Risk Committee

Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Derek Teh Wan Wei

Joyce Loh Mun Ching

Investor 
Relations

Investment Legal

FinanceLeasing

Asset 
Management

Compliance

ORGANISATION STRUCTURE OF THE MANAGER

CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

TAN SRI SAW CHOO BOON
Chairman and

Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

ANN WAN TEE
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date Appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership 
Nil

Membership

 
Present Directorships

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Working Experience:

Date Appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership

Committee

Membership

Present Directorship

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Working Experience

as corporate recovery.

SENTRAL REIT



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

KWAN JOON HOE
Non-Independent  

Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

DATUK DR. ROSLAN  
BIN A. GHAFFAR
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date Appointed to the Board 

Board Committee Membership
Nil

Membership

Present Directorship

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Working Experience:

Date Appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership

Committee

Membership

 
Present Directorships

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Working Experience:

CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW



DATUK KAMALUL ARIFIN 
BIN OTHMAN
Independent 

Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

FRANCES PO YIH MING
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

Date Appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership 

Managers

 
Present Directorships

 Penang Sentral Sdn Bhd

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Other Memberships/Appointments/Involvements

Berhad 

Negara

Kelantan

Working Experience:

Date Appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership

Committee

Membership

Malaya

 
Present Directorships

 Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd

Working Experience:

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:

and

SENTRAL REIT



THE MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE MANAGER

From left to right :

Manager, Asset Management

Senior Executive, Finance

Senior Manager, Legal

General Manager, Asset Management

Shirley Tam Soot Lee General Manager, Finance

Senior Manager, Lease Administration

Manager, Lease Administration

CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW



Samwise Capital Sdn Bhd

Working Experience:

THE MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE MANAGER
(cont’d)

Nil

Working Experience:

overseeing the investment and investor relations 

She was also an investor relations personnel with 

DEREK TEH WAN WEI

Nationality/Age/Gender

JOYCE LOH MUN CHING

Nationality/Age/Gender

SENTRAL REIT



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Fund Performance

Closing price on the last trading day

MER 

(b)  Management Expense Ratio (MER) is computed based on total fees including Manager’s fee, Trustee’s fee, valuation 

 Since the average net asset value of the Trust is calculated on a monthly basis, the MER of SENTRAL may not be 

Warning statement - The past performance is not necessarily indicative of future performances and that unit prices and 



SENTRAL REIT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

Ehsan

Logistic Tenant
 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

Note:



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Ehsan

Logistic Tenant
 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

Note:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

 years

 Major Tenants and Tenancy Details:

Tenant
Centre Sdn. Bhd.

Tenancy Period

Tenant

Tenancy Period

Tenant

Tenancy Period  

Tenant
Bhd.

Tenancy Period  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

 

IT
34%

IT
29%

Automobile
70%

Automobile
66%

Oil & Gas
1%

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

WISMA TECHNIP

years

: 

 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

Sdn. Bhd. 

and convenient marts

years period

PART OF PLAZA MONT’ KIARA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

 
  

Food &
Beverage 

37%

Banking
13%Fashion &

Grooming
8%

Convenient
Mart 
20%

Services
8%

Lifestyle/Fitness
8%

Education
6%

Retail 
59%

Car Park
41%

Revenue

PART OF PLAZA MONT’ KIARA  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

Sdn. Bhd. 

 

 
Retail Tenant

 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

LOTUSS BUILDING, PENANG 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Bhd

 Major Tenants and Tenancy Details:

Tenant
Enterprise Corporation 
Malaysia

Tenancy Period

Tenant SBM Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Tenancy Period

Tenant

Tenancy Period

Tenant
Sdn Bhd

Tenancy Period

Remaining 
Tenants

and convenient stores

Tenancy Period

PLATINUM SENTRAL

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

  

Oil & Gas
14%

IT
4%

Services
34%

Education
3%

Retail
2%

Oil & Gas
15%

Government
61%43%

Government

Education
1%

Services
21%

Retail
2%

PLATINUM SENTRAL  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

MENARA SHELL 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

 Major Tenants and Tenancy Details:

Tenant Shell Malaysia Trading 
Sdn. Bhd.

Tenancy Period

Tenant
Berhad

Tenancy Period

Tenant
Sdn. Bhd.

Tenancy Period

Tenant
Bhd

Tenancy Period

Tenant

Tenancy Period

Tenant
Limited

Tenancy Period

Remaining 
Tenants

childcare centre and 
convenient stores

Tenancy Period

 

Oil & Gas
55%

IT
22%

Insurance
19%

Retail
3%

Manufacturing/
Services 

1%

  

Oil & Gas
62%IT

17%

Insurance
18%

Retail
2%

Manufacturing/
Services

1%

 Property Manager : Zaharin Nexcap Property 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Malaysia experienced steady economic recovery 

(Source: BNM)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

properties. The sector also welcomed a new 

monetary accommodation with the emphasis that 

REIT sectors. 

(Source : BNM)

external monetary movements. The increase in 

environment. Despite the rising interest rate 

strategy in these volatile times.



SENTRAL REIT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FY FY FY FY FY FY

FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY

FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY FY

Gross Revenue (million) Realised Net Income (million)

Total Asset Value (billion)

Distribution Per Unit (sen)

Distribution Yield (%)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

strategies centred on tenant retention as well as 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

Distribution to Unitholders

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE



SENTRAL REIT

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

 

Name of Properties

Valuation as at Valuation as at % of 
Investment

Menara Shell 

Total Investment Properties

 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

 

Portfolio details

 Notes:

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

 

 

Cyberjaya
15%

KL Sentral
65%

Penang
7%

Mont’ 
Kiara

5%

Kuala 
Lumpur

City Centre
8%

Penang

 Note:

 

 

 

Government 

12.1%

Retail 
4.5%

Hypermarket/
Supermarket

17.6%

0.8%

Banking 
0.7%

Automotive 
3.2%

11.7%
Oil & Gas

22.8%

10.1%

9.8%

6.4%
FMCG 
0.3%



SENTRAL REIT

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

   

 

 
88%

Retail Assets
10%

Car Park
2%

 Notes:

environment was challenging despite the 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)

corporations in Malaysia practicing remote/

that this new normal will not eliminate the 

will still want to retain a physical presence 

 In response to mitigating the challenges 

 



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

tenant management and tenant retention 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

Strategies

properties primarily in Malaysia with a view 



SENTRAL REIT

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Strategies

additional income growth and enhancement 

management strategy

additional properties that meet the 
investment criteria to enhance yields 

commercial space and correspondingly 

  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)

  

  

  

  
improving and maintaining the 

the properties. 

 There were no changes in the strategies 

to the strategies employed in the preceding 
years and are consistent with those stated in 

coming year.

 



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

 

MTN

mil TL

mil

RM (mil)

MTN

mil

CP

mil
MTN

mil

MTN

mil

 Notes:

Details

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Risk Management

 

 

 

 

 

lease term.

 

There is a stringent collection policy in place 

we have an ageing analysis in place to 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)

 

 

 

Fixed 
rate, 
34%

Floating 
rate, 
66%



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

 

environment.

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

Report.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS



SENTRAL REIT

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

 Unit Price Performance

 

Trading Volume

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS



SENTRAL REIT

 SENTRAL’s Unit Price versus Performance Benchmarks 

 

 Comparative Yields

 

spread

 Source:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Market Capitalisation

 Market Capitalisation, Unit Price and Units in Circulation

 

Market Capitalisation (RM)               Units in Circulation (units)               Unit Price (RM)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

 

 

Communication Channel Medium of Communication Stakeholders

releases
 Corporate exercise 

relation portal
 https://sentralreit.com

 Retail investors

 Media

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Communication Channel Medium of Communication Stakeholders

Research coverage
 Retail investors

 Media

Media engagement
 Media releases

 Media 

 Company Presentations
 Media

 Unitholders’ Meetings

 Tenth Annual Unitholders’ Meeting

and operating environment. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

(cont’d)
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Coverage Rating

Kenanga Research

 

  

   

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(cont’d)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

SENTRAL

MARKET INDICATIONS

MALAYSIA: RETAIL PERFORMANCE

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

MALAYSIA: RETAIL PERFORMANCE 

(f)

-10.0%

-20.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

R
et
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w
th

 (%
)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022(f)

4.5% 3.4%
1.4% 1.7% 2.0%

3.9% 3.7%

-16.3%

-1.9%

41.6%

5.5%

Note: (f) = Forecast

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW

 

 

 
(p)

  

0.0

20.0
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100.0
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022(p)

Kuala Lumpur Selangor

19.4

72.6

20.0

75.6

21.7

78.0

24.4

81.3

24.9

82.1

25.4

84.4

25.9

87.2

  
  Note: (p) = Preliminary data
   

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 
(p)

  

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022(p)

90.0%

85.0%

80.0%

75.0%

70.0%

65.0%

60.0%

Kuala Lumpur Selangor Greater KL

O
cc

u
p

an
cy

 R
at

e 
(%

)

73.9

73.8

73.9

  
  Note: (p) = Preliminary data

 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 (p)

  

8.00

7.00
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Kuala Lumpur Selangor Greater KL

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022(p)

6.15
5.62

4.09

  
  Note: (p) = Preliminary data 

 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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HIGHLIGHTS

OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 

Transaction 
Date Building Name Locality Tenure Estimated Consideration Analysis

Menara Tan & 
Tan 

Freehold

Freehold

Sari
Freehold

City
Leasehold

Centrepoint 
City

Leasehold

Centrepoint 
North City

Leasehold

Properties City
Leasehold

City
Leasehold

North Tower City
Leasehold

Menara 
City

Leasehold

Freehold

Leasehold

Dr Ismail
Freehold

Balai Berita Bangsar Freehold

Ismail
Freehold

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 

Transaction 
Date Building Name Locality Tenure Estimated Consideration Analysis

Freehold

Freehold

One 

Leasehold

Menara Freehold

Taman Desa Freehold

  

  Notes:

  

Annexe, Centrepoint South, Centrepoint North, Boulevard Properties, Gardens South Tower, Gardens 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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OFFICE MARKET OVERVIEW 

locations.

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW

 

 

  

Ex
is

ti
n

g
 S

u
p

p
ly

 (m
ill

io
n

 s
q

 ft
)

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

Kuala Lumpur

Selangor

2016
25.08

30.16

2017
26.80

30.32

2018
28.40

30.57

2019
28.53

31.95

2020
29.15

33.66

2021
30.99

34.11

2022
31.98

35.75

  

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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HIGHLIGHTS

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

  

 

Name of Development Location Locality/
State

Expected
Completion/

Opening

Estimated 
Net Lettable 

KSL Esplanade Mall Klang Selangor

KLCC

KLCC

Total

  

 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

  

 
(p)

  

72.0%

74.0%

76.0%

78.0%

80.0%

82.0%

84.0%

86.0%

88.0%

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 3Q2021(p)

Kuala Lumpur Selangor

80.8%

79.8%

77.9%

81.8%

  Source: NAPIC
  Note: (p) = Preliminary data

 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 

Retail 
Development Location Floor

Built-up Area 
Analysis of Rental Rate 

KL Sentral, Kuala Lumpur

Mid Valley City, Kuala Lumpur

Megamall

Selangor

Shopping Centre

The Mines

IOI City Mall

  

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

  

Date of 
Transaction

Building 
Name Location

Estimated 
NLA Consideration Price 

Purchaser

Selangor

Empire City 
Mall 

Damansara 
Perdana Berhad

SStwo Mall Companies 

Cheras
Cheras

Foremost 

Management 
Sdn Bhd

Empire 
Shopping 

Shopping 
Mall 

Pavilion REIT

Tropicana 
City Mall 

CapitaMalls 

Properties Bhd 

Mall Property

Kuala Lumpur

Pavilion Pavilion REIT

Mont Kiara

Central 

Frasers 

Pte. Ltd.

Pavilion Regal Path Sdn 
Bhd

Elite Pavilion 
Mall Pavilion REIT

Mall Pavilion REIT

KL Sentral

Cardiac 

   

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



BUSINESS  
HIGHLIGHTS

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

  Notes: 

  

years ago is set to reopen as a healthcare centre with Life Care Diagnostics Medical Centre as its new 

million was negotiated on a willing-buyer and willing-seller basis with reference to the independent 

 

 (p)

  

Penang Island,
11.4 million sq ft,
57.2%

Penang Mainland,
8.6 million sq ft,
42.8%

  

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 
(p)

  

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 3Q2022(p)

Penang - State Penang Island Penang Mainland

100.0%

90.0%

80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

50.0%

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 O

cc
u

p
an

cy

  
  Note: (p) = Preliminary data

 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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HIGHLIGHTS

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

 

Shopping 
Centre Floor Built-up Area 

Range of Rental Rates 

Basement 

Basement 

First Floor 

Second Floor 

Second Floor 

Paragon

First Floor

Second Floor

Third Floor

Sixth Floor

st First Floor

Second Floor

Third Floor

   

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

 

Date of 
Transaction

Building 
Name Location

Estimated 
NLA Consideration Price 

Purchaser

Mall Bayan Lepas

Island Reportedly to 

Mall Sdn Bhd

  

  Notes: 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)
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RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW 

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

 

https://sentralreit.com/

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE APPROACH

transparency.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

ARC NRC

Management Team

Function

Company 



SENTRAL REIT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Independent Directors
Non-Independent Directors

Male Directors
Female Directors

More than 3 years
Less than 3 years

77 years old41 years old

Chairman

More than 9 years

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

DIVERSITY OF GENDER

DIVERSITY OF AGE DIVERSITY OF TENURE

37%

63%

25%

75%

52

1

Note:  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

 

PROPERTY 
DEVELOPMENT & 

REAL ESTATE

BUSINESS
MANAGEMENT

SCIENCE

ENTREPRENEURSHIP

PROPERTY 
MANAGEMENT

PROPER

MANAGEMENT

$

AL ESTATE

ACCOUNTING &
FINANCE

SUMMARY OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Large Company to do so.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board 

Annual Budgets, 
including 

Major Capital 
Commitments

Changes to the 
Management and 
Control Structure 

within the Company, 
including key 

policies

Corporate 
Plans and 

Programmes

Acquisitions 
and Disposals 
of Properties

https://sentralreit.com/. 



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

FACILITATE
Facilitating board governance 
processes, board evaluation 
and succession planning.

MONITOR
Corporate governance 

advisory role to the Board, 
Senior Management and 

stakeholders.

ENHANCE
Enhancing corporate 

governance policies and 
processes.

ADVISORY
Monitoring statutory 
information and 
documentation.

1

2

3

4

Director Board ARC NRC
Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors
Tan Sri Chaw Choo Boon

Frances Po Yih Ming
Legend:

Board/Board Committee Chairman Member

Note:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

their nominators.

Contribution 
to political 

parties

Gift giving 
policies

Legal and 
ethical

business 
deals

Safe work
environments

Offers and 
unlawful

payments

Integrity and 
professionalism



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Board Composition

. 

Notes:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Board Evaluation

Directors’ Training and Continuing Education Programmes

development programmes

Attended by Date Organiser Particulars of training programmes attended

Tan Sri Chaw 
Choo Boon

Development 
Corporation 

SIDC

SIDC

Times

KSI Strategic 

Malaysian 

SIDC

MRCB / ERM

SIDC

Times

Sentral REIT / 

Company

SIDC

MRCB / ERM

SIDC

Times
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ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Attended by Date Organiser Particulars of training programmes attended

MIECO 

Berhad

MIECO 

Berhad

Sentral REIT / 

Company

Othman
Commission 

Malaysia
Committees

Sentral REIT / 

Company

Frances Po Yih 
Ming

Malaysia 

Corporate 
Directors 
Malaysia 

Malaysia

Climate 

Malaysia 

ICDM

Board Series: Changing the game with digital ecosystem

The Innovation Economy

Malaysian 

ICDM

ICLIF
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Attended by Date Organiser Particulars of training programmes attended

Frances Po Yih 
Ming

Climate 

Malaysian REIT 
Managers 

ICDM & FIDE 

Remuneration

PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Audit & Risk Committee 



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Risk Management and Internal Audit

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Mail
Level 35, Menara NU2, 

No. 203, Jalan Tun 
Sambanthan, 

Kuala Lumpur Sentral 
50470 Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia

Email
General Enquiries:

enquiries@sentralreit.com

Investor Relations Enquiries:
joyce.loh@sentralreit.com

Telephone
(603) 2786 8080 
(603) 2780 7988

Conduct of General Meeting

th



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

The Board, with the support of the ARC, have continued to undertake rigorous deliberations on 
internal control and risk management with coverage on more nuanced risks such as business, 

Management of SRM undertook a laser-focused review of its portfolio of properties in view of the 

SENTRAL’s portfolio through acquisition or sale of one or more of the authorised investments or 
commercial properties with the objective of maximising total returns to unitholders. Additionally, 
the review also encompassed SRM’s asset enhancement initiatives (“AEI”) as a two-pronged 
exercise, whereby safety risks was also a priority as part of SRM’s planned AEI. The AEI completed 

enhanced its safety aspects, thus dovetailing with its sustainability agenda.

Internal Control and Risk Management Framework

The Board has also focused on establishing a clear and an orderly talent management plan for 
Directors and Senior Management (including CEO) so as to maintain progressive refreshing of 
talent and leadership. The established talent management plan for Directors and Senior 
Management was carefully designed by considering different time horizons: i) contingency 
planning for sudden and “hit-by-the-bus” departures ii) medium-term planning for orderly talent 
management (i.e. retirement) iii) long-term planning for future strategic priorities of SENTRAL.

Talent Management

Pursuant to Paragraph 15.01A of the amended Listing Requirements which come into effect on 1 

directors of the listed issuer and its subsidiaries.

SRM has adopted the Fit and Proper Policy for its Directors and Senior Management and copy of 
the Policy was published on https://sentralreit.com.

proper assessment was conducted on the Directors and Senior Management (including CEO) for 

Compliance



SENTRAL REIT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Boardroom Composition

2022 is board refreshment. In fact, 51% of respondents said that refreshing board composition is 
the most effective measure in improving board effectiveness. Meanwhile 41% of respondents 

Along the same lines, the report also highlighted that the top aspects to improve board 
composition include the appointment of new independent directors (65%). 

independence, gender diversity and casting a wider net when sourcing candidates.

the required tenets and have a simultaneous appreciation for the nuances of SENTRAL’s 
operating environment.

departure of Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P., SRM remains with only one (1) female director sitting in 

measures to achieve the stipulated 30% female director target as put forth in the Clause 5.06 of 

candidates for the Manager as a whole.

have the intended impact of identifying the most suitable candidates to steer SENTRAL 
forward.
 

hunters, consultants, directors’ registries and industry associations to maximise the chances of a 
successful search for candidates. 



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Environmental, Social & Governance Considerations

As highlighted in the 2022 ASEAN Board Trends report published by the ICDM, Boards across the 
region are placing increased emphasis on internalisation of Environmental, Social and 
Governance (“ESG) principles within their organisations.

The Board is fully committed to embedding ESG-related considerations into the fabric of 
SENTRAL’s operational landscape pursuant to this regional and global trend. 

The Board has placed a long-term goal of adopting integrated reporting to allow for more 
informed assessments by stakeholders on SENTRAL’s value accretion course. To this end, the 
Board will endeavour to take necessary incremental steps to adopt integrated reporting.
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AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

https://sentralreit.com
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AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

ARC Member Designation Attendance

Chairman

Frances Po Yih Ming

Financial results 



SENTRAL REIT

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)

Internal Audit

External Audit 

Risk Management

Related Party Transactions

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND INTERNAL AUDITOR



SENTRAL REIT

 Board 

 to assist the Board in implementing 
 and to maintain 

 to review and

incentives

https://sentralreit.com. 

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
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ACCOUNTABILITY

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

 meetings were held and the 

ARC Member Designation Attendance

Chairman

Frances Po Yih Ming

Note:

meeting.

 
Meeting.

 
 

SRM 
 

Senior Management
 
  

 
 
 
 

increment 
 
 

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

NOMINATION AND RECRUITMENT PROCESS

https://sentralreit.com. 

Appointment of 
new Directors 

and Senior 
Management

Deliberation by 
NRC on Criteria 

and Needs

Deliberation
& Approvals

NRC Recommendation 
& Board’s Approval

Evaluation

Due DiligenceNomination & Searches 
for candidates

Shareholder

Search Firms

Directors

Our People

Appointment

Induction

Training

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

changes. 



SENTRAL REIT

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)

KEY RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(cont’d)

KEY RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES

 

 

personnel.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

CONCLUSIONS



GOVERNANCE &
ACCOUNTABILITY

STATEMENT ON DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
for preparing the Annual Audited Financial Statements



 Introduction of Sustainability to SENTRAL 
 and Message from the CEO

 About SENTRAL
 Sustainability Highlights
 United Nations Sustainable 

 Development Goals (UN SDG) Scorecard
 About this Statement
   Reporting Framework

  Independent Assurance
 Sustainability Governance
   Governance Structure
   Business Ethics 

   Regulatory Compliance
 Stakeholder Engagement
   Stakeholder Engagement Table
 Materiality Assessment 
   Materiality Assessment
   Materiality Matrix
 Alignment to UN SDG
 SENTRAL’s Value Creation Model  

   Economic
 Sustainable Business Growth and Financial 

 Performance
 Data Privacy
 Supply Chain Management

   Environmental
 Energy and Carbon Footprint
 Water Management
 Waste Management

    Social
 Health and Safety
 Quality of Assets and Services
 Employee Management
 Community Partnership and Activities
 Sustainability Key Performance Indicators
 rd 

 Edition Content Index
 GRI Content Index

SENTRAL REIT
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THE CEO

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

CEO’s Message
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

MALAYS I AMALAYS I A

1
Property

Penang:
 

4
Properties

Kuala Lumpur:
 
 

 Kiara
 
 Menara Shell

4
Properties

Cyberjaya:

 
 
  
 

Rate

ABOUT SENTRAL

in commercial properties primarily 
in Malaysia with a view to generate 

For more information on SENTRAL’s 

For more information on SENTRAL’s 



SENTRAL REIT

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS  

Distribution 
per unit 

6.82
sen 

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENTAL 

Gross 
Revenue

RM148.9
million

 

Net Asset
Value per unit

RM1.1704

SOCIAL

 

Average 
training

hours

34.7
 

Local
procurement

95%

 

  

4.9%4.9%
Reduction 

in GHG 
emissions 

Reduction 
in energy 

consumption

 

Invested to the
community

RM131K
  

Breach in
customer data

or privacy

Zero
Invested in Asset

Enhancement
Initiatives (“AEI”)

RM3.5
million

GOVERNANCE AND 
REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Property
value

RM2.0607
billion Zero

non-compliance  
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

UN SDG SCORECARD

4.9% energy reduction 
from FY2021

Multiple AEIs 
implemented 
across portfolio to 
minimise 
operational energy 
consumption and 
GHG emissions

Two portfolio assets 
Menara Shell and 
Platinum Sentral 

rating/green 
features

RM3.5 mil 
invested in Asset 
Enhancement 
Initiatives

RM150.9 mil Total 
Value Generated

Zero incidence 
pertaining to 

non-compliance of 
laws and regulation

Zero reports of 
bribery and 

corruption incidents

Zero complaints 
of cybersecurity 

breaches

Zero reported case 
of work-related 

injuries and 
fatalities

Zero reported case of 
employee grievances 

of discrimination 
or harassment

34.7 Average 
training hours 
per employee

RM131,000 
invested in the 
community, 
positively 
impacting 1,056 
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ABOUT THIS STATEMENT

Independent Assurance

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Governance Structure

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)



SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT

Strengthening SENTRAL’s Corporate Governance

investment decision. 

appropriate controls are in place to manage 

To mitigate the potential 

independent and specialised 

diligence exercise.

major investment proposals 

control strategies. 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Sustainability Governance Structure 

agenda 

and properties

assessment

departments

management targets

SRM

Board of Directors 

SRM

Sustainability Working 
Committee

Investor 
Relations

Leasing

Legal

Finance

Management

Investment
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Business Ethics
ursa

dignity and respect.

 

 

 COURAGEOUS
We are courageous

in our actions.
We take responsibility,

challenge and question.

CREATIVE
We are forward 

thinkers. We 
encourage new ideas

to help us enhance 
value and stay ahead.

DRIVEN
We are a high

performance organisation
determined to deliver the

best to our customers.

ACCOUNTABLE
We are committed to
what we do, standing
accountable for every

decision we make.

CUSTOMER CENTRIC
Every decision must

ultimately contribute to
improving our

customers’ 
experience.

governance/

Code of Business Ethics Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy

directly or indirectly receiving 

this policy directs all employees 

license agreements and service 

external parties to report 

  



SENTRAL REIT

Fit and Proper Policy Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors

Directors and Senior Management was newly 

Management.

 

 

we did not receive any concerns reported via these channels.

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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(cont’d)

Regulatory Compliance

new tenancy agreements.

Introduction of corporate liability for corruption offences that is applicable to Malaysian commercial 

are liable and can be punished if their employees are involved in corruption 

Prohibits exploitative labour practices

Imposition of income tax that includes collection and recovery of tax, tax refund, offences and 
penalties, and exemptions, remissions and other relief

Protects the safety, health and welfare of persons at work

Regulates the processing of personal data in regard to commercial transactions



SENTRAL REIT

Relates to the prevention, abatement, control of pollution and enhancement of the environment

contracts

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder Engagement Table

Stakeholder
Engagement 
Objectives

Engagement 
Method

Stakeholder’s 
Interests and 
Concerns

SENTRAL’s 
Response

Relevant Material 
Matter

Employees  To provide 

 To provide 
employee 
development 
and career 
progression

the overall 

employees are 
addressed

 Employee 

employee 
appraisals

meetings 
 Team meetings

 Career 
progression

 Employee 
and consistent 
approach to 
appraisals 

 Transparent 

 Training and 

arrangement 

 Open door 
policy to express 
concerns

Financial 

 Employee 
Management

      

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)



SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT

Stakeholder
Engagement 
Objectives

Engagement 
Method

Stakeholder’s 
Interests and 
Concerns

SENTRAL’s 
Response

Relevant 
Material Matter

Tenants & 
Business 
Partners

 To engage 
existing 

and high 
retention rate

relationships 
with potential 
tenants

tenancy

meetings and  Data privacy

and services

each property

 Timely response 

Financial 

Services
 Data privacy

Shareholders 
& Unitholders

 To proactively 
provide 

to allow 

decisions 
on their 
investments

 Interactions 
with Investor 

personnel

initiatives
 Timely and 

transparent 

investment 
and capital 
management 
strategy

governance 

strategies and 
direction

Financial 

Vendors
proper and 
transparent 
dealings with 
vendors

meetings
 Fair and 
transparent 

vendors
 Timely payment 

to vendors
 Potential 

vendors
 Competitive 

rates

approach in 
reviewing 

vendors

payment cycles 

Services

management

Government, 
Regulators 
and Local 

Authorities

compliance 
and proper 
administration 

legislations 
and local 

the REIT

meetings 
together with 

advisors and 

associations
 Seminars and 

 Compliance 
to legislations 

legislations 

players 

sessions

and report on 
compliance 

 Monitored 
compliance 

assessment

Compliance 
 Employee 

Management

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

Stakeholder
Engagement 
Objectives

Engagement 
Method

Stakeholder’s 
Interests and 
Concerns

SENTRAL’s 
Response

Relevant 
Material Matter

Analysts and 
Media

 To proactively 
provide 

allow analysts 
to disseminate 

the investment 

meetings

 Investor 

direction and 
strategy

 Timely and 
transparent 

 Improved 
responsiveness 
towards 

activities and/
or related 

a dedicated IR 
personnel 

Financial 

Compliance 

Investors/ 
Investment 
Community

 To engage 
existing and 
potential 
investors 
to provide 

which allows 
these investors 

investment 
decisions 
concerning 

meetings
 Investor 

 Timely and 
transparent 

management or 
IR team

 Improved 
responsiveness 
towards 

a dedicated IR 
personnel

Financial 

Industry 
Associations

sessions

 Fair 
representation 

government 

involvement and 
Compliance 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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(cont’d)

Stakeholder
Engagement 
Objectives

Engagement 
Method

Stakeholder’s 
Interests and 
Concerns

SENTRAL’s 
Response

Relevant 
Material Matter

Local 
Community

 To give 

in which 

to improve 

needy children

the immediate 

least one 

engagements 

events

 Partnerships  
and 

with local 

programmes

 To provide 

each CSR project
 Financial 

assistance to 

 Monetary 
Partnership 

Annually 
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality Assessment

strategy.

 

Prioritisation and impact assessment

 

Validation

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

Low Moderate Major Severe

Very likely

Likely

Possible

Unlikely

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Magnitude
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Materiality Matrix

  



SENTRAL REIT

Material Matter

levels 

anti-corruption, anti-bribery, Code of Business Ethics, whistleblowing 
and due diligence assessment

Services

Employee Management

Data Privacy 

Management

Footprint

waste

joint activities

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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U
n

it
ed

 N
at

io
n

s 
SD

G
s

M
at

er
ia

l M
at

te
rs

 Energy and 

Footprint
Financial 

Management

Services
 Employee 

Management
 Energy and 

Footprint

Financial 

 Energy and 

Footprint
Ethics

Compliance
 Employee 

Management
 Data Privacy

Legend:   Economic     Environmental     Social
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

SENTRAL’S VALUE CREATION MODEL

Capital Input Business Activities

Financial 
capital

Leasing Strategy

Capital Management Strategy

Asset Management Strategy

Management Strategy

Manufactured 
capital

 Management services

Intellectual 
capital

Human 
capital

 
 

Social and 
relationship 

capital

Natural 
capital
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Output Outcome Contribution to SDG

Unitholders and Investment Community 

Tenants

Employees

Local Community

 Improved engagement and positive 

Vendors

ecosystem 

Environment

Industry Associations, Governments, 
Regulators and Local Authorities

data

activities

/sqm
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS GROWTH AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

ECONOMIC

strategic initiatives.

 

 

  
 

 

SENTRAL’s Four Key Strategic Initiatives   

 

 

Proactive leasing 
strategies to ensure 

stabilisation of 
portfolio occupancy 

and income

Ongoing cost 
management to 

ensure optimisation 
of SENTRAL’S overall 

weighted average 
cost of debt

Emphasis on quality 
of SENTRAL’s 
products and 

services through 
embracing 

innovation and 
supply chain 

management which 
directly affect 

tenant’s satisfaction

Adjustment of the 
portfolio mix through 

acquisition or 
divestment with 
the objective of 

maximising total 
returns to 

unitholders

Leasing Strategy Capital Management 
Strategy

Asset Management 
Strategy

Acquisition Growth 
and Portfolio 
Management

Strategy
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

SENTRAL maintained its fi nancial health and contributed a realised revenue of RM150.9 million in 
FY2022. We attained a Distribution Per Unit of 6.82 sen this fi scal year which was largely due to value 
created by our business operations. Table 4 depicts the breakdown of direct economic value generated 
and distributed by SENTRAL.

Kindly refer to our Management Discussion and Analysis section from pages 25 to 36 for further 
information on our economic performance.

In RM FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019 FY2018

Value Generated

Revenue, fi nance income, 
gain on divestment of 
investment property 150,906,023 166,461,106 167,980,858 164,687,987 179,041,503

Less: Property operating 
expenses (24,275,211) (28,523,531) (29,456,543) (30,769,769) (31,594,183)

Less: Other operating 
expenses (1,332,106) (1,219,240) (919,578) (922,599) (948,463)

Total Value Generated 125,298,706 136,718,336 137,604,737 132,955,619 146,498,857

Reconciliation: 

Total realised income net of 
taxation 73,625,238 84,485,957 80,954,941 72,107,547 84,653,758

Add: 

Finance costs 30,425,280 30,520,952 34,750,696 38,976,163 39,774,798

Manager’s fees 12,220,533 12,616,534 12,796,372 12,760,955 13,253,725

Trustee’s fees 649,354 664,577 665,681 676,287 685,921

Quit rent and assessment 8,378,301 8,430,316 8,437,047 8,474,667 8,130,655

Total Value Generated 125,298,706 136,718,336 137,604,737 132,995,619 146,498,857

Payments to the Manager 
and Trustee

Manager’s fees 12,220,533 12,616,534 12,796,372 12,760,955 13,253,725

Trustees fees 649,354 664,577 665,681 676,287 685,921

Payments to government

Quit rent and assessment 8,378,301 8,430,316 8,437,047 8,474,667 8,130,655

Payments to providers of 
capital 

Income distribution 73,095,601 79,419,121 75,882,237 72,881,244 86,600,067

Finance costs 30,425,280 30,520,952 34,750,696 38,976,163 39,774,798

Economic value retained 529,637 5,066,836 5,072,704 (773,697) (1,946,309)

Total Value Distributed 125,298,706 136,718,336 137,604,737 132,995,619 146,498,857

Table 4: Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed
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DATA PRIVACY

Ongoing initiatives

Compliance 

tenancy and service agreements

processing

Data Protection 

all systems

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Ongoing initiatives

 
department 

Physical Data 
Management 

 

 
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Portfolio of companies

Capital 
management

Asset
management

Leasing 
management

Distribution
of income to
unitholders

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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tenant. 

Service Contractor Evaluation Policy 
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)

ENVIRONMENTAL

ENERGY AND CARBON FOOTPRINT

Our approach in energy management

conventional lighting with energy 

power system

Installation and improvements 

in good condition
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No. Building

Menara Shell

WATER MANAGEMENT

providers prior to discharge via the sewerage system. 
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system

 

maintained sensor taps

where necessary

No. Building

Menara Shell
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waste disposal and management 

awareness notices and posters.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

SOCIAL

SENTRAL Health and Safety Policy 

DEDL 
Principles 

Regulatory 

Compliance 

Employees,
Tenants,

Contractors,
Visitors and 
Community
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Develop Engage Deal Lay

Develop and use best 
practices and 
procedures to achieve 
and maintain high 
standards of health 
and safety quality

Engage our 
employees, tenants, 
visitors, community, 
supply chain vendors 
and contractors to 
identify safety risks 
and develop counter 
measures to mitigate 
risks

Deal and treat our 
employees, tenants, 
visitors, community, 
supply chain vendors 
and contractors in a 
straight-forward, 
polite, helpful, open 
and professional 
manner related to 
health and safety 
procedures

Lay the foundations of 
quality health and 
safety procedures 
with good working 
conditions for all our 
employees, tenants 
and visitors, 
community, supply 
chain vendors and 
contractors

Managing risks and hazards in our buildings
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Stakeholders Safety controls

management team and 
contractors

persons.

Tenants
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Health and safety grievances

and landscape area.

Channel Description

Telephone

Email

the property and prevent criminal activities

Our Employees

 Notice and poster reminders at strategic 
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First Aid Training

th th

Training.

Menara Shell - Health and Safety Online Forum 

QUALITY OF ASSETS AND SERVICES

Asset Enhancement
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Our approach for asset enhancement

 

RM 3,556,790

RM 1,770,000

RM 1,483,076

RM 1,050,000

RM 1,280,000

FY2022

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018
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Platinum Sentral Before

After

 Before After

 
ceiling board replacement

panel.

 Before After

 
main entrance canopy
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Plaza Mont’ Kiara  Before After

 

No. Building 

Menara Shell  Repaint two emergency staircases walls

Facility Manager Management
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Tenant Engagement and Satisfaction

Raise complaint

Immediate remedial 
action

complaint has been 
addressed

Update and inform Form. 
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complaints 
resolved

 

1,845
1,658

1,139

794

1,245

1,658

1,139

794

1,245

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022

Complaints Received Complaints Resolved

1,845

Embracing Innovation and Technology

EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT
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Indicators

30%

32%

33%

70%

68%

67%

72%28%

72%28%

25%

26%

28%

33%

33%

20%

22%

22%

17%

28%

25%

26%

22%

17%

11%

30%

26%

28%

33%

28%

85%

87%

83%

84%

86%

15%

13%

17%

16%

14%

10%

5%

6%

22%

5%

75%

79%

77%

61%

90%

15%

16%

17%

17%

5%
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not limited to:

Leaves
 Medical leave
 Parental leave
 Maternity leave
 Compassionate leave
 Prolonged illness leave
 Family care leave
 Examination leave
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Employee engagement

reprimands

Integrity Department via  or 

List of employee social events
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escalation to the CEO or Chairman.

Training and Education

 

 

 
 

General Policy on Training 
and Development

development programmes 

This policy also applies to 

external parties.

Training and Development 
Policy Guidelines  

training.

Training and Development 
Policy Guidelines  

training programmes. 
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training.

 

Senior Management Middle Management

Senior Executive Executive

Category   
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Female Male
Senior Management Middle Management
Senior Executive Executive

COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP AND ACTIVITIES
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projects.

Good Shepherd Services Yayasan Ozanam

Sponsor-A-Child for
Education Fund

Menstrual Hygiene Health 
Education program Education Grant

is a heavy reliance on school 

 to 
meet their schooling expenses 

costs. 

supports the students’ hostel fees, 
which enables them to attend 

school regularly

Program. This project is a 

secondary school aiming to 
increase awareness on personal 

distributed to secondary schools

expenses.

aid from the grant
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(cont’d)



SENTRAL REIT

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)



143SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT

SUSTAINABILITY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Economic

Indicator Unit FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022

Direct economic value generated and distributed

Value generated

Revenue, fi nance 
income, gain 
on divestment 
of investment 
property

RM 179,941,503 164,687,987 167,980,858 166,461,106 150,906,023

Less: Property 
operating 
expenses

RM (31,594,183) (30,769,769) (29,456,543) (28,523,531) (24,275,211)

Less: Other 
operating 
expenses

RM (948,463) (922,599) (919,578) (1,219,240) (1,332,106)

Total Value 
Generated

RM 146,498,857 132,955,619 137,604,737 136,718,336 125,298,706

Reconciliation:

Total realized 
income net of 
taxation

RM 84,653,758 72,107,547 80,954,941 84,485,957 73,625,238

Finance costs RM 39,774,798 38,976,163 34,750,696 30,520,952 30,425,280

Manager’s fees RM 13,253,725 12,760,955 12,796,372 12,616,534 12,220,533

Trustee’s fees RM 685,921 676,287 665,681 664,577 649,354

Quit rent and 
assessment

RM 8,130,655 8,474,667 8,437,047 8,430,316 8,378,301

Total Value 
Generated

RM 146,498,857 132,995,619 137,604,737 136,718,336 125,298,706

Payments to the Manager and Trustee

Manager’s fees RM 13,253,725 12,760,955 12,796,372 12,616,534 12,220,533

Trustees’ fees RM 685,921 676,287 665,681 664,577 649,354

Payments to government

Quit rent and 
assessment

RM 8,130,655 8,474,667 8,437,047 8,430,316 8,378,301

Payments to providers of capital

Income 
distribution

RM 86,600,067 72,881,244 75,882,237 79,419,121 73,095,601

Finance costs RM 39,774,798 38,976,163 34,750,696 30,520,952 30,425,280

Economic value 
retained

RM (1,946,309) (773,697) 5,072,704 5,066,836 529,637

Total Value 
Distributed

RM 146,498,857 132,955,619 137,604,737 136,718,336 125,298,706

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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Indicator Unit 

Business ethics

Percentage 

employees who 
have received 
training on 

Senior 
Management

Middle 
Management

Total percentage 

who have 
received 

Regulatory Compliance

to relevant laws 

Data privacy

complaints 
concerning 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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Indicator Unit 

Supply chain management

spending on 

Local RM

service providers 

appraisal

service providers 
achieved 
higher than the 

Environmental

Indicator Unit 

Energy and Carbon Footprint

Energy consumption outside of the organisation

TechnipFMC

Kiara

Menara Shell

Total energy 
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Indicator Unit 

Energy and Carbon Footprint

Energy consumption outside of the organisation

Energy intensity

GHG Emissions

TechnipFMC

Kiara

Menara Shell

Tonnes/

Water Management

Water Consumption

TechnipFMC

Kiara

Menara Shell

sqm
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Social

Indicator Unit

Health and Safety

employees 
trained on 
health and 

Training

Training

Lost time 
incident rate

Quality of Assets and Services

Percentage 

enhancement 
investments

RM

complaints 
received

complaints 
resolved

Percentage 

resolved

Employee Management

Employment Type

Employees

Employee Type

Permanent

Contract

Permanent

Contract

Employee count

employees

hires

Employee 
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Indicator Unit

Employee Management

Employee Turnover by Employee Category

Middle 
Management

Senior 
Management

Employee Gender Diversity by Employee Category

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Middle Management

Male

Female

Male

Female

Senior Management

Male 

Female

Male 

Female

Total

Male

Female

Male

Female

Employee Age Diversity by Employee Category

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
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Indicator Unit

Employee Management

Employee Age Diversity by Employee Category

Middle Management

Senior Management

Total

Board Diversity by Gender

Male

Female

Male

Female
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Indicator Unit

Employee Management

Board diversity by Age group

Worker diversity - Gender

Male

Female

Human Rights

complaints 
concerning 

violation

Learning and development hours 

Middle 
Management

Senior 
Management

Parental Leaves Utilisation

Maternity Leave

Paternity Leave

Community Partnership and Activities

invested in the 

where the target 

external to the 

RM

the investment 
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RD EDITION CONTENT INDEX

Bursa 
Sustainability 
Matters

Sentral’s 
Material 
Matter Bursa indicators GRI

Location 

Common Sustainability Matters

ethics that have received training on 

category 

Society partnership 
and activities

Diversity Diversity 

employment employee category

Energy 
management

Energy 

Lost time incident rate

standards

and standards
Employee 
engagement employee category

that are contractors or 

employee category

complaints concerning 
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Bursa 
Sustainability 
Matters

Sentral’s 
Material 
Matter Bursa indicators GRI

Location 

Common Sustainability Matters

management management

Data privacy and Data privacy
complaints concerning 

management

management management

disposal

disposal

Emissions 
management

Energy 

environmental 
assessment

management
environmental criteria

management
social criteria
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Statement of use

Applicable GRI Sector 

GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

General Disclosures

Disclosures 
The Organization and its Reporting Practices

details

reporting

contact point

Activities and Workers

relationships

not employees

Governance

composition

highest governance 

highest governance 

highest governance 

impacts

managing impacts
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GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

Disclosures  highest governance 

reporting

interest

highest governance 

policies

to determine 

compensation ratio constraints.

Strategy, Policies and Practices

development 
strategy

commitments

policy commitments

remediate negative 
impacts

raising concerns

with laws and 

associations

Stakeholder Engagement

engagement

agreements
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GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

Material Topics

Topics determine material 
topics

topics

Material Topics: Economic

Topics material topics

Economic 
Performance generated and 

Topics material topics

Procurement 
Practices

spending on local 

Topics material topics

Corruption

Material Topics: Environmental

Topics material topics

Energy
 

intensity
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GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

Topics material topics

with water as a 

Topics material topics

Emissions

intensity 

Topics material topics

generation and 

related impacts

related impacts

generated

disposal

directed to disposal

Topics material topics

Supplier 
Environmental 
Assessment

that were screened 

criteria

environmental 

chain and actions
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GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

Material Topics: Social

Topics material topics

Employment hires and employee 

employees that 
are not provided to 

time employees

Topics material topics

Labour/ 
Management 
Relations

notice periods 
regarding operational 
changes

Topics material topics

Occupational 
Health and 
Safety incident investigation

training on 

ill health

Topics material topics

Training and 
Education per employee

assistance programs 
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GRI Standard/ 
Other Source Disclosure

Location 

Omission

GRI Sector 
Standard Ref. No.Omitted Reason Explanation

career development 
reviews

Topics material topics

Diversity 

Opportunity
and employees

Topics material topics

Discrimination discrimination and 
corrective actions 

Topics material topics

Communities

and development 
programs

Topics material topics

Supplier Social 
Assessment

that were screened 

social impacts in the 

Topics material topics

Customer 
privacy

complaints 
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THE MANAGER’S REPORT

Sentral REIT Management Sdn. Bhd. (“SRM”) being the manager (the “Manager”) of Sentral REIT 
(“SENTRAL”), is pleased to present the Manager’s Report on SENTRAL together with the audited financial 
statements of SENTRAL for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

SENTRAL, the Manager and their principal activities

SENTRAL was constituted under Restated Trust Deed dated 2 December 2019 (the “Trust Deed”) and the 
Supplemental Deed dated 24 December 2020 by SRM as the Manager and Maybank Trustees Berhad 
as the trustee (the “Trustee”) and is categorised as a real estate investment trust. SENTRAL commenced 
its operations in 2006 and was listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Malaysia”) on 8 January 2007.

The principal activity of SENTRAL involves acquisition of and investment in commercial properties, 
primarily in Malaysia. The principal activity of each of the special purpose entities of SENTRAL is to 
facilitate financing for SENTRAL as disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements. There have been no 
significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The Manager is a company incorporated in Malaysia. The principal activity of the Manager is to manage 
SENTRAL. There has been no significant change in the nature of this activity during the financial year.

Investment objective and strategies

The investment objective of SENTRAL is to acquire and invest in commercial properties primarily in 
Malaysia with a view to provide long-term growth and sustainable distribution of income to unitholders 
and to achieve long-term growth in the net asset value per unit of SENTRAL.

The Manager plans to achieve the key investment objectives while seeking additional income growth and 
enhancement of SENTRAL’s property portfolio over time through the strategies as mentioned below:

(a)	 Acquisition growth and portfolio management strategy	
(b)	 Active asset management strategy
(c)	 Capital management strategy

There were no changes in the strategies adopted during the financial year, which are in line with those as 
stated in the prospectus dated 11 December 2006.

As these strategies still remain relevant for SENTRAL under the current market conditions, the Manager 
will continue to adopt them in the coming year.

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to and from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as 
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in net asset value (“NAV”).
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Directors

The names of the directors of the Manager in office since the date of last report and at the date of this 
report are:

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon 
Kwan Joon Hoe
Ann Wan Tee
Datuk Dr. Roslan Bin A. Ghaffar
Datuk Kamalul Arifin Bin Othman
Po Yih Ming
Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.	 (Resigned on 19 January 2023)
Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun	 (Resigned on 19 January 2023)

Directors’ benefit

Neither at the end of the f inancial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any 
arrangement to which the Manager was a party, whereby the directors of the Manager might acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of units in or debentures of SENTRAL or any other body corporate.	

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Manager has received or become entitled 
to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by SENTRAL or a related corporation with any director 
of the Manager or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the 
director has a substantial financial interest, except for units held in SENTRAL as disclosed in Note 29 
to the financial statements and the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 31 to the financial 
statements.

Directors’ interests

 Note 

 Units as at 
 1 January 

 2022 

Number 
of units 

 acquired/ 
 (disposed) 

 Units as 
at 31 

December 
 2022 

Direct interest:
Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.  50,000  -  50,000 
Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun  55,000  -  55,000 
Kwan Joon Hoe  450,000  -  450,000 
Po Yih Ming  -  20,000  20,000 

Indirect interest:
Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. (a)  59,401,000  1,114,000  60,515,000 
Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun (b)  59,401,000  1,114,000  60,515,000 
Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon (c)  185,000  572,000  757,000

(a)	 Deemed interest by virtue of her direct shareholding in Quill Land Sdn. Bhd. (“QLSB”) and Quill 
Resources Holding Sdn. Bhd. (“QRSB”).

(b)	 Deemed interest by virtue of his direct shareholding in QLSB and QRSB.

(c)	 Deemed interest by way of his substantial shareholding in Morningale Sdn. Bhd. and Jendela Elit 
Sdn. Bhd., which in turn are substantial shareholders of Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd..

Except for the direct and indirect directors’ interests disclosed above, none of the other directors of the 
Manager in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in SENTRAL.

THE MANAGER’S REPORT
(cont’d)
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Soft commission

During the financial year, the Manager did not receive any soft commission (such as goods or services) 
from any broker or dealer by virtue of transactions conducted by SENTRAL.

Utilisation of proceeds raised from issuance of new units

There were no proceeds raised as there was no issuance of new units during the financial year ended 31 
December 2022.

Particulars of all sanctions and/or penalties imposed on SENTRAL, directors of the management 
company or the management company by the relevant regulatory bodies

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, there were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed 
on SENTRAL, its Manager and/or directors of its Manager by any of the relevant regulatory bodies.

Amount of non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to SENTRAL by its auditors, or a firm of 
company affiliated to the auditors’ firm

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, there were non-audit fees of RM5,500 for the review 
of Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control services; tax agent fees of RM24,700 for the 
services rendered by Ernst & Young Tax Consultants Sdn. Bhd.; and professional fees of RM95,000 on the 
advisory services for sustainability reporting for financial year 2022 by Ernst & Young Advisory Services 
Sdn. Bhd..

Manager’s responsibility for the annual audited accounts

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the annual audited financial statements of SENTRAL.

Other statutory information

(a)	 Before the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of SENTRAL 
were made out, the directors of the Manager took reasonable steps:

	 (i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and 
the making of allowance for doubtful debts of receivables and satisfied themselves that there 
were no known bad debts and that no allowance for doubtful debts was necessary; and

	 (ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the 
accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount 
which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances which 
would render: 

	 (i)	 it necessary to write off any bad debts or to make any allowance for doubtful debts in the 
financial statements of SENTRAL inadequate to any substantial extent; and 

	 (ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of SENTRAL misleading.

(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances which 
have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities 
of SENTRAL misleading or inappropriate.

THE MANAGER’S REPORT
(cont’d)
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Other statutory information  (cont’d)

(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances not 
otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements of SENTRAL which would render any 
amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:

	 (i)	 any charge on the assets of SENTRAL which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person; or

	 (ii)	 any contingent liability of SENTRAL which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors of the Manager:

	 (i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable 
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect 
the ability of SENTRAL to meet its obligations as and when they fall due;

	 (ii)	 the results of SENTRAL’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and	

	 (iii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval 
between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of SENTRAL for the financial year in which this report 
is made.

Subsequent event

Details of a subsequent event are disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Manager, Sentral REIT Management Sdn. Bhd..

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon	 Ann Wan Tee
Director	 Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia											        
22 February 2023											         

THE MANAGER’S REPORT
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We, Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon and Ann Wan Tee, being two of the directors of the Manager, Sentral REIT 
Management Sdn. Bhd., do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial 
statements set out on pages 169 to 228 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and applicable provisions of the Trust Deed 
and Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities Commission so as to 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of SENTRAL as at 31 December 2022 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Manager, Sentral REIT Management Sdn. Bhd..

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon	 Ann Wan Tee
Director	 Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
22 February 2023

I, Teh Wan Wei, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of SENTRAL, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 169 to 228 
are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be 
true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Teh Wan Wei
at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory
on 22 February 2023.	 Teh Wan Wei

Before me,
Commissioner of Oath

											         

STATEMENT BY MANAGER

STATUTORY DECLARATION
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We have acted as Trustee of Sentral REIT (“SENTRAL”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. To 
the best of our knowledge, Sentral REIT Management Sdn. Bhd. (“the Manager”) has managed SENTRAL 
in the financial year under review in accordance to the following:

(a)	 the limitation imposed on the investment powers of the Manager and the Trustee under the Trust 
Deed, other applicable provisions of the Trust Deed, the Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment 
Trusts issued by Securities Commission Malaysia, the Capital Markets & Services Act 2007 and other 
applicable laws; and

(b)	 the valuation of SENTRAL is carried out in accordance with the Trust Deed and other regulatory 
requirements.

An interim distribution of 3.40 sen per unit has been distributed to the unitholders of SENTRAL on 30 
September 2022 for the financial period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022. The proposed final gross 
income distribution of 3.42 sen per unit for the financial period from 1 July 2022 to 31 December 2022 
will be payable on 28 February 2023 to all unitholders as at the book closure date of 9 February 2023.	

We are of the view that the distributions are consistent with the objectives of SENTRAL.	

For and on behalf of MAYBANK TRUSTEES BERHAD
[Company No.: 196301000109 (5004-P)]								      

NORHAZLIANA BINTI MOHAMMED HASHIM
Head, Unit Trust & Corporate Operations
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

TRUSTEE’S REPORT
To the unitholders of SENTRAL REIT
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sentral REIT (“SENTRAL”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of f inancial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in net asset value and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 169 to 
228.
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of SENTRAL as at 31 December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the applicable provisions of the Deed and 
Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence and other ethical responsibilities
 
We are independent of SENTRAL in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code. 

Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of SENTRAL for the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements of SENTRAL as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statements.
 
Valuation of Investment Properties
 
SENTRAL adopts the fair value model for its investment properties. The policy of SENTRAL is that property 
valuations are performed by external experts at least once a year. The carrying value of the investment 
properties as at 31 December 2022 of RM2,047,174,431 represents 95% of total assets of SENTRAL and 
therefore the valuation exercise was significant to our audit. The areas that involved significant audit effort 
and judgement were the assessment of the basis and assumptions used by the external experts to derive 
the fair value of the investment properties. The basis and assumptions include amongst others, estimated 
rental revenues, yield rates and discount rates which are based on current and future market or economic 
conditions. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the unitholders of SENTRAL REIT
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters  (cont’d)

Valuation of Investment Properties  (cont’d)

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, considering the objectivity, independence and expertise 
of the external appraisers. We furthermore assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology 
adopted, reviewed and assessed inputs related to the property for the valuations and considered the 
underlying assumptions against the market estimates. Further, we had discussions with the independent 
valuers to obtain an understanding of the property related data used as input to the valuation models 
which included, amongst others, rental income data and yield rate. We then tested the accuracy of rental 
income data applied in the valuation by comparing them with lease agreements and challenged the yield 
rate by comparing them with available industry data, taking into consideration comparability and market 
factors. For discount rate, we assessed whether the discount rate used to determine the present value of 
the cash flows reflects the estimated market rate of return for comparable assets with similar profile.
 
We also focused on the adequacy of SENTRAL’s disclosures on those assumptions to which the outcome 
of the valuation is most sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination 
of the fair value of the investment properties. SENTRAL’s disclosures on the investment properties, which 
also explains the effects on the valuation following any changes in key parameters used in determining 
the fair value are included in Note 4.2 and Note 15 to the financial statements. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
 
The directors of the Manager of SENTRAL are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of 
SENTRAL and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of SENTRAL does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of SENTRAL, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of SENTRAL or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report on this regard.

Responsibilities of Manager, Trustee and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
 
The directors of the Manager of SENTRAL is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of 
SENTRAL that give a true and fair view in accordance with MFRS, IFRS and the requirements of the 
applicable provisions of the Deed and Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the 
Securities Commission Malaysia. The Manager is also responsible for such internal control as the Manager 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of SENTRAL that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of SENTRAL, the Manager is responsible for assessing SENTRAL’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager either intends to liquidate SENTRAL or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing SENTRAL’s financial reporting process. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the unitholders of SENTRAL REIT
(cont’d)
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of SENTRAL, 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

l	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of SENTRAL, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

l	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of SENTRAL’s internal control.

l	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager.

l	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on SENTRAL’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of SENTRAL or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause SENTRAL to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

l	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of SENTRAL, 
including the disclosures, and whether the f inancial statements of SENTRAL represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

l	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and 
business activities within SENTRAL to express an opinion on the financial statements of SENTRAL. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of SENTRAL’s audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the unitholders of SENTRAL REIT

(cont’d)
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of SENTRAL of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

Other matters

This report is made solely to the unitholders of SENTRAL, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young PLT	 Ng Wai San
202006000003 (LLP0022760-LCA) & AF 0039	 No. 03514/08/2024 J
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
22 February 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the unitholders of SENTRAL REIT
(cont’d)
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Note  2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Total income

Revenue

- Realised  148,931,357  160,645,430 

- Unrealised (in relation to lease income recognised in  
prior years)  (1,581,592)  (1,042,254)

5  147,349,765  159,603,176 

Property operating expenses 6  (32,653,512)  (36,953,846)

Net property income  114,696,253  122,649,330 

Finance income 7  2,364,017  2,639,082 

Change in fair value of investment properties 

- As per valuation  (23,907,864)  (15,700,919)

- Lease income recognised in prior years  1,581,592  1,042,254 

Gain on divestment of investment property  -  3,754,026 

 94,733,998  114,383,773 

Total expenditure

Manager’s fees 8  (12,220,533)  (12,616,535)

Trustee’s fee 9  (649,354)  (664,577)

Finance costs 10  (30,839,995)  (31,087,822)

Valuation fees  (297,620)  (316,100)

Auditors’ remuneration  (158,072)  (147,637)

Tax agent’s fee  (26,422)  (26,423)

Administrative expenses  (849,992)  (729,080)

 (45,041,988)  (45,588,174)

Income before taxation  49,692,010  68,795,599 

Income tax credit 11  2,581,701  1,450,654 

Income net of taxation, representing total comprehensive 
income for the financial year  52,273,711  70,246,253 

Net income for the year is made up as follows:

- Realised  73,625,238  84,485,957 

- Unrealised  (21,351,527)  (14,239,704)

 52,273,711  70,246,253

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
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Note  2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Total realised income net of taxation/Distributable Income  73,625,238  84,485,957 

Earnings per unit 12

After manager’s fees (sen)  4.88  6.55 

Before manager’s fees (sen)  6.02  7.73 

Earnings per unit (realised) 12

After manager’s fees (sen)  6.87  7.88 

Before manager’s fees (sen)  8.01  9.06 

Income distribution

Interim distribution of 3.43 sen paid on 20 September 2021 
(RM) 1*  -  36,762,157 

Final distribution of 3.98 sen paid on 28 February 2022  
(RM) 2*  -  42,656,964 

Interim distribution of 3.40 sen paid on 30 September 2022 
(RM) ³*  36,440,622  - 

Final distribution of 3.42 sen payable on 28 February 2023  
(RM) ⁴*  36,654,979  - 

13  73,095,601  79,419,121 

Interim distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5*  3.40  3.43 

Final distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5*  3.42  3.98 

Total distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5*  6.82  7.41

1	 Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 
2021;	

2	 Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 July 2021 to 31 December 
2021;

3	 Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 
2022;	

4	 Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 July 2022 to 31 December 
2022;

5	 Final income distribution for the financial year 2022 was declared on 19 January 2023 and will be payable 
on 28 February 2023. The declared final income distribution will be recognised in the immediate subsequent 
financial year.

*	 Income distributed to resident individuals, non-resident individuals, resident institutional investors, non-resident 
institutional investors and non-resident companies are subject to withholding tax.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
(cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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Note  2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Assets

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 14  36,548  131,633 

Investment properties 15  2,047,174,431  2,065,892,839 

Accrued rental income 17  13,525,569  15,107,161 

Lease receivables 16  -  91,788 

 2,060,736,548  2,081,223,421 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17  6,128,944  5,373,984 

Lease receivables 16  91,788  240,915 

Deposits, cash and bank balances 18  79,759,866  93,537,907 

 85,980,598  99,152,806 

Total assets  2,146,717,146  2,180,376,227 

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 21  804,493,923  675,656,454 

Security deposits 23  14,832,962  11,716,798 

Other payables 20  907,693  1,108,964 

Deferred tax liabilities 22  9,551,020  12,132,721 

 829,785,598  700,614,937 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20  20,579,440  19,200,716 

Borrowings 21  -  129,992,582 

Security deposits 23  5,310,213  12,702,222 

 25,889,653  161,895,520 

Total liabilities  855,675,251  862,510,457 

Net asset value (“NAV”)  1,291,041,895  1,317,865,770

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022
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Note  2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Unitholders’ funds 

Unitholders’ funds attributable to unitholders of 
SENTRAL

Unitholders’ capital 24  1,235,876,768  1,235,876,768 

Undistributed and non-distributable income  55,165,127  81,989,002 

Total unitholders’ funds  1,291,041,895  1,317,865,770 

Net asset value (“NAV”) 27

Before income distribution 1  1,291,041,895  1,317,865,770 

After income distribution 2  1,254,386,916  1,275,208,806 

NAV per unit 27

Before income distribution 1  1.2046  1.2296 

After income distribution 2  1.1704  1.1898 

Number of units in circulation

As at 31 December (units) 27  1,071,783,000  1,071,783,000

1	 Before the proposed final income distribution of 3.42 sen per unit and 3.98 sen per unit for the financial year 
2022 and 2021 respectively.

2	 After the proposed final income distribution of 3.42 sen per unit and 3.98 sen per unit for the financial year 
2022 and 2021 respectively.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022
(cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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 Distributable Total 

 Unitholders’ 
 capital 

 Undistributed 
 income 
 realised 

 Undistributed 
(loss)/income 

 unrealised 
 Undistributed 

 income 
 Unitholders’ 

 funds 

 RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

At 1 January 2022  1,235,876,768  65,682,662  16,306,340  81,989,002  1,317,865,770 

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
financial year  -  73,625,238  (21,351,527)  52,273,711  52,273,711 

 1,235,876,768  139,307,900  (5,045,187)  134,262,713  1,370,139,481 

Transactions with 
unitholders

Distribution to unitholders  -  (79,097,586)  -  (79,097,586)  (79,097,586)

At 31 December 2022  1,235,876,768  60,210,314  (5,045,187)  55,165,127  1,291,041,895 

At 1 January 2021  1,235,876,768  57,078,942  30,546,044  87,624,986  1,323,501,754 

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
financial year  -  84,485,957  (14,239,704)  70,246,253  70,246,253 

 1,235,876,768  141,564,899  16,306,340  157,871,239  1,393,748,007 

Transactions with 
unitholders

Distribution to unitholders  -  (75,882,237)  -  (75,882,237)  (75,882,237)

At 31 December 2021  1,235,876,768  65,682,662  16,306,340  81,989,002  1,317,865,770

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN NET ASSET VALUE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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Note  2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Cash flows from operating activities

Income before taxation  49,692,010  68,795,599 

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 10  30,839,995  31,087,822 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 14  99,750  172,416 

Fair value adjustments 15  22,326,272  14,658,665 

Lease income recognised in prior years 5  1,581,592  1,042,254 

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 17  43,264  440,577 

Reversal for impairment of trade receivables 17  (146,466)  (374,511)

Finance income 7  (2,364,017)  (2,639,082)

Write off of investment property 15  -  765,000 

Gain on divestment of investment property  -  (3,754,026)

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  102,072,400  110,194,714 

Changes in working capital:

Increase in trade and other receivables  (308,992)  (416,460)

Decrease in security deposits (4,690,560) (1,060,791)

Increase in trade and other payables 857,274 1,743,778

Net cash flows generated from operating activities  97,930,122  110,461,241 

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to investment properties 15  (3,607,864)  (657,919)

Net proceeds from divestment of investment property  -  41,850,000 

Additions to plant and equipment 14  (4,665)  (35,413)

Changes in deposits with licensed financial institutions  3,987,245  (3,265,053)

Interest received  1,872,815  2,138,448 

Net cash flows generated from investing activities  2,247,531  40,030,063 

Cash flows from financing activities

Distribution to unitholders  (79,097,586)  (75,882,237)

Drawdown of borrowings 21  207,000,000  258,380,616 

Repayment of borrowings 21  (207,000,000)  (300,000,000)

Finance costs paid 21  (29,970,308)  (27,123,513)

Transaction costs paid 21  (900,555)  (554,078)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (109,968,449)  (145,179,212)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (9,790,796)  5,312,092 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  20,167,135  14,855,043 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18  10,376,339  20,167,135

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements.
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1.	 SENTRAL, the Manager and their principal activities

	 SENTRAL was constituted under Restated Trust Deed dated 2 December 2019 (the “Trust Deed”) 
and the Supplemental Deed dated 24 December 2020 by SRM as the Manager and Maybank 
Trustees Berhad as the trustee (the “Trustee”) and is categorised as a real estate investment trust. 
SENTRAL commenced its operations in 2006 and was listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) on 8 January 2007.

	 The principal activity of SENTRAL involves acquisition of and investment in commercial properties, 
primarily in Malaysia. The principal activity of each of the special purpose entities of SENTRAL is to 
facilitate financing for SENTRAL as disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements. There have been 
no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

	 The Manager is a company incorporated in Malaysia. The principal activity of the Manager is to 
manage SENTRAL. There have been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the 
financial year.

	 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager in accordance with a resolution of 
its directors on 22 February 2023.

2.	 Term of SENTRAL

	 SENTRAL will continue its operations until such time as determined by the Trustee and the Manager 
as provided under Clause 26 of the Trust Deed.

3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies

	 3.1	 Basis of preparation

		  The f inancial statements of SENTRAL have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and applicable provisions of the Trust Deed and Securities Commission Malaysia REIT Guidelines 
(“SC REIT Guidelines”).

		  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed 
in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia 
(“RM”). 

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
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(cont’d)

3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.2	 Changes in accounting policies

		  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except 
as follows:

		  On 1 January 2022, SENTRAL adopted the following new and amended MFRS mandatory for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022:

Description

Effective for
annual periods
 beginning on

 or after

Annual improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 - 2020:

- Amendments to MFRS 1: Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards 1 January 2022

- Amendments to MFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2022

Amendments to MFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

Amendments to MFRS 137: Onerous Contracts - Cost of  
Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022

Amendments to MFRS 116: Property, Plant and Equipment -  
Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

		  The adoption of the above standards and amendments did not have any material effect on the 
financial performance or position of SENTRAL.

	 3.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

		  The standards that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of SENTRAL’s 
f inancial statements are disclosed below. SENTRAL intends to adopt these standards, if 
applicable, when they become effective.

Description

Effective for
annual periods
 beginning on

 or after

MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 101: Classification of Liabilities as Current  
or Non-current 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 108: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 112: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 16: Leases 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective  (cont’d)

		  The directors of the Manager expect that the adoption of the above standards will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.

	 3.4	 Basis of consolidation

		  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of SENTRAL and its 
special purpose entities (“SPEs”) as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the SPEs 
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same 
reporting date as SENTRAL. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances. The SPEs are established for the specific purpose of raising 
financing on behalf of SENTRAL for the acquisition of real estate and are single-purpose entities.

		  SENTRAL controls the SPEs if and only if SENTRAL has all the following:

		  (i)	 Power over the SPEs (such as existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the SPEs);

		  (ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the SPEs; and 

		  (iii)	 The ability to use its power over the SPEs to affect its returns. 

		  SPEs controlled by SENTRAL were established under terms that impose strict limitations on 
the decision-making powers of the SPEs management resulting in SENTRAL receiving all of the 
benefits related to the SPEs operations and net assets.

		  All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

	 3.5	 Plant and equipment

		  All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to SENTRAL and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

		  Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. When signif icant parts of plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, SENTRAL recognises such parts as 
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a 
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

		  Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost 
of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

Plant and machinery 20%

Office equipment 20% - 50%

Furniture and fittings 33%

		  The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.5	 Plant and equipment  (cont’d)

		  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, 
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

		  An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

	 3.6	 Sales tax 

		  Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except: 

		  (i)	 When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and

		  (ii)	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

		  The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

	 3.7	 Investment properties

		  Investment properties consist of investment in real estate assets primarily in commercial 
properties. These properties are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or 
for both.

		  Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying 
amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time 
that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day 
servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties 
are measured at fair value which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Fair value 
is arrived at by discounting cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash 
flows, supported by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) 
by external evidence such as current market rent for similar properties in the same location 
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the 
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows. Valuations are performed by accredited 
independent valuers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent 
experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. In determining the 
carrying amount of an investment property, under the fair value model, the accrued rental and/
or advance rental arising from recognising rental income from operating lease on straight line 
basis over the lease term are deducted against fair value of investment property.

		  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognised 
in the profit or loss in the year in which they arise including the corresponding tax effect. A 
property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as an investment 
property on a property-by-property basis when SENTRAL holds it to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. Any such property interest under an operating lease classified as an 
investment property is carried at fair value.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.7	 Investment properties  (cont’d)

		  Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their 
disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised 
in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. The difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of 
derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the 
derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for 
determining the transaction price in MFRS 15.

		  Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. 
For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost 
for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from 
owner-occupied property becames an investment property, the property is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy stated under plan and equipment as set out in Note 3.5 
to the financial statements up to the date of change in use.

	 3.8	 Impairment of non-financial assets 

		  SENTRAL assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is 
required, SENTRAL makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

		  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). 

		  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated to 
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 

		  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

		  An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss.

	 3.9	F inancial assets 

		  Financial assets with the exception of trade receivables without signif icant f inancing 
component are measured initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. Trade receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

		  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”).
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.9	F inancial assets  (cont’d)

		  The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and SENTRAL’s business model for managing them. 
SENTRAL’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

		  Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless SENTRAL 
changes their business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.

		  (i)	F inancial assets at amortised cost

			   Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they meet both of the following 
conditions and are not designated as at FVTPL:

			   -	 The financial assets are held within a business model with the objective to hold 
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

			   -	 The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

			   Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

		  (ii)	F inancial assets at FVOCI

			   Debt instruments

			   Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they meet both of the following conditions and 
are not designated as at FVTPL:

			   -	 The financial assets are held within a business model with the objective of both 
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling; and

			   -	 The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

			   Subsequent to initial recognition, debt instruments at FVOCI are measured at fair value.

			   Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses or reversals 
are recognised in profit or loss. Other net fair value changes are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Fair value changes accumulated in other comprehensive income 
are recycled to profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.9	F inancial assets  (cont’d)

		  (ii)	F inancial assets at FVOCI  (cont’d)

			   Equity instruments 

			   Upon initial recognition of equity investments that are not held for trading, SENTRAL 
may irrevocably elect to classify equity investments that are not held for trading as equity 
instruments designated at FVOCI and to present subsequent changes in the fair value in 
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, equity instruments at FVOCI are measured at fair value. 

			   Dividends are recognised as income in prof it or loss unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment in which case, such gains are 
recorded in other comprehensive income. Other net gains and losses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income and are never recycled to profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognised. Equity investments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment 
assessment.

		  (iii)	F inancial assets at FVTPL

			   Financial assets are classif ied and measured at FVTPL if they are not classif ied and 
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or are designated as such upon initial recognition. 
This includes all derivative financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial 
assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value. 

			   Dividend income, interest income and any gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value are recognised in profit or loss, except for changes in fair value on derivatives that 
qualify for hedge accounting.

		  (iv)	F inancial assets: derecognition

			   A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised where:

			   -	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

			   -	 SENTRAL retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; or 

			   -	 SENTRAL has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

			   Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised or derecognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that SENTRAL commit to 
purchase or sell the asset.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.10	 Impairment of financial assets 

	 	 SENTRAL recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on f inancial assets 
measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.

		  ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that SENTRAL expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash 
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.

		  ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that 
result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month expected 
credit losses). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over 
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime expected 
credit losses).

		  For trade receivables and contract assets, SENTRAL applies a simplif ied approach in 
calculating ECL. Therefore, SENTRAL does not track changes in credit risk, but instead 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting 
date. SENTRAL have established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment.

		  For debt instruments at FVOCI, SENTRAL applies the low credit risk simplification. At every 
reporting date, SENTRAL evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low 
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue 
cost or effort. 

		  SENTRAL considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past 
due. However, in certain cases, SENTRAL may also consider a financial asset to be in default 
when internal or external information indicates that SENTRAL are unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by SENTRAL. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows.

	 3.11	 Cash and cash equivalents

		  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits, and short 
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 3.12	F inancial liabilities 

		  Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability. 

		  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
or other financial liabilities.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.12	F inancial liabilities  (cont’d)

		  (i)	F inancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

			   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss.

			   Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by SENTRAL that do not 
meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value 
and subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit 
or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

		  (ii)	 Other financial liabilities

			   Trade and other payables, loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus 
directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

			   Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortisation process. 

		  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expired.

		  Where an existing f inancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in profit or loss.

	 3.13	 Offsetting of financial instruments

		  Financial assets and f inancial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

	 3.14	 Borrowing costs

		  Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or 
sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use. 

		  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that SENTRAL incurred in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.15	 Revenue and other income

		  Revenue and other income are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to SENTRAL and they can be reliably measured regardless of when the 
payment is being made. Revenue and other income are measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.

		  The specif ic recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is 
recognised.

		  (i)	 Rental income

			   Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate 
costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over 
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

		  (ii)	 Utilities recovery and others

			   Utilities recovery and others (such as license and service charges) are recognised on an 
accrual basis taking into account contractually defined terms.

		  (iii)	Car park operations

			   Revenue from car park operations is recognised as and when the services are rendered.

		  (iv)	Interest income

			   Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

	 3.16	 Leases - as lessor

		  Leases in which SENTRAL does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a 
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit 
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in 
the period in which they are earned.

	 3.17	 Income taxes 

		  (i)	 Current income tax

		  	 Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

			   Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to 
items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.17	 Income taxes  (cont’d)

		  (ii)	 Deferred tax

			   Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

			   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

			   -	 where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

			   -	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future;

			   -	 where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss; and 

			   -	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

			   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

		  	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

			   Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a 
business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

			   Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists 
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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	 3.18	 Current versus non-current classification

		  SENTRAL presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/
non-current classification. An asset is classified as current when it is:	

		  (i)	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

		  (ii)	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

		  (iii)	 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

		  (iv)	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 
for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

		  All other assets are classified as non-current. 

		  A liability is classified as current when:

		  (i)	 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

		  (ii)	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

		  (iii)	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

		  (iv)	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.

		  All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

	 3.19	 Provisions

		  Provisions are recognised when SENTRAL has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. When SENTRAL expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income net of any reimbursement.

		  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

	 3.20	F air value measurement 

		  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

		  - 	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

		  - 	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.	
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.20	F air value measurement  (cont’d)

		  The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by SENTRAL.

		  The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest.

		  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

		  SENTRAL uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

		  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

		  -	 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;

		  -	 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; or

		  -	 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.

		  For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
SENTRAL determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

		  For the purposes of fair value disclosures, SENTRAL has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liabilities and the 
level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

	 3.21	 Unitholders’ capital and units issuance expenses

	 	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
SENTRAL after deducting all of its liabilities. Units are equity instruments.

		  Units are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs. Units are classified as equity. Dividends on units are recognised in equity in 
the period in which they are declared. 

	 3.22	 Non-current asset classified as asset held for sale

		  Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This 
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary.
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3.	 Summary of significant accounting policies  (cont’d)

	 3.22	 Non-current asset classified as asset held for sale  (cont’d)

		  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets 
is brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable MFRS. Then, on initial classification 
as held for sale, non-current assets (other than investment properties, deferred tax assets, 
employee benefits assets, financial assets and inventories) are measured in accordance with 
MFRS 5 that is at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any differences 
are included in the profit or loss.

4.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

	 The preparation of SENTRAL’s financial statements requires the management to make judgements, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities and the disclosures at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

	 4.1	 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies 

		  In the process of applying SENTRAL’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

		  Operating lease commitments – as lessor

		  SENTRAL has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. 
SENTRAL has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the 
arrangements such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the 
commercial property and the fair value of the asset, that it retains all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

	 4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

		  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

		F  air valuation of investment properties

		  SENTRAL carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being 
recognised in profit or loss. SENTRAL had engaged independent professional valuers to 
determine the fair value and there are no material events that affect the valuation between the 
valuation date and financial year end. 

		  The determined fair value of the investment properties by the independent professional valuers 
is most sensitive to the estimated yield rate and the discount rate. The range of the term 
yield rate and the discount rate used in the valuation is disclosed in Note 15 to the financial 
statements.
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4.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates  (cont’d)

	 4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty  (cont’d)

		  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:  (cont’d)

		F  air valuation of investment properties  (cont’d)

		  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in 
estimated term yield rate and discount rate and its corresponding sensitivity result in a higher 
or lower fair value measurement:

	F air value
	 Increase/(decrease)

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Yield rate

- 0.25%  71,932,633  77,769,782 

+ 0.25%  (66,393,420)  (71,704,116)

Discount rate

- 0.25%  17,105,660  15,227,189 

+ 0.25%  (16,515,043)  (14,612,098)

		  The other key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the investment properties, are 
further explained in Note 15 to the financial statements. 

5.	 Revenue

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Rental income and service charges

- Realised  133,550,660  147,638,704 

- Unrealised (in relation to lease income recognised in prior years)  (1,581,592)  (1,042,254)

Car park income  10,228,823  9,536,954 

Utilities recovery  5,109,845  3,261,561 

Others  42,029  208,211 

 147,349,765  159,603,176 

	 The realised revenue comprises rental and service charges, car park income from properties and 
utilities costs recoverable from tenants. The unrealised revenue refers to the lease income recognised 
in prior years pursuant to requirements of MFRS 16: Leases, recognised on straight-line basis.
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6.	 Property operating expenses

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Quit rent and assessment  8,378,301  8,430,316 

Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 14)  99,750  172,416 

Insurance  731,553  734,904 

Property management fee  2,780,899  3,003,712 

Service contracts and maintenance  9,733,296  12,501,258 

Utilities  10,929,713  12,111,240 

 32,653,512  36,953,846 

7.	Finance  income

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Interest income on fixed deposits  1,914,498  1,943,191 

Interest on deposit paid to authorities  38,283  38,974 

Interest income on lease receivable  21,885  56,237 

Late payment interest charged to tenants  -  23,249 

 1,974,666  2,061,651 

Unrealised:

Amortisation of deferred lease income (Note 20(c))  389,351  577,431 

 2,364,017  2,639,082 

8.	 Manager’s fees

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Base fee  8,672,958  8,843,938 

Performance fee  3,547,575  3,772,597 

 12,220,533  12,616,535 

	 The Manager is entitled under the Trust Deed to a base fee of 0.4% per annum of the gross asset 
value, payable monthly in arrears and a performance fee of 3% per annum on the net investment 
income, payable semi-annually in arrears.
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8.	 Manager’s fees  (cont’d)

	 The Manager is also entitled under the Trust Deed to an acquisition fee of 1% of the acquisition value 
of any asset, being authorised investments, acquired by SENTRAL and divestment fee of 0.5% of the 
disposal value of any asset divested by SENTRAL.

	 There are no other fees earned by the Manager during the financial year other than as disclosed in 
this note.

	 The Manager’s remuneration is accrued and paid in accordance with the Trust Deed.

	 During the financial year, the Manager did not receive any soft commission (such as goods or 
services) from any broker or dealer by virtue of transactions conducted by SENTRAL.

9.	 Trustee’s fee

	 Trustee’s fee accrued to the Trustee for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to 
RM649,354 (2021: RM664,577).

	 Trustee’s fee is payable to the Trustee, which is computed at 0.03% per annum on the first RM2.5 
billion of the gross asset value and 0.02% per annum on the gross asset value in excess of RM2.5 
billion, payable monthly in arrears. 

10.	Finance  costs

 2022 2021

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Accretion of interest expense  478,025  269,898 

Amortisation of transaction costs incurred to obtain Commercial 
Papers (“CPs”)/Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”)  505,537  360,016 

Amortisation of transaction costs incurred to obtain Term Loan  56,194  33,703 

Annual CPs/MTNs Programme expense  596,454  481,567 

Interest expense on CPs  6,852,018  6,059,833 

Interest expense on MTNs  21,215,572  18,331,038 

Interest expense on Term Loan  721,480  4,984,897 

 30,425,280  30,520,952 

Unrealised:

Unwinding of discount on security deposits (Note 23)  414,715  566,870 

 30,839,995  31,087,822 
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11.	 Income tax credit

	 The major components of income tax credit for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary  
differences (Note 22)  (2,581,701)  (1,450,654)

	 Pursuant to Section 61A of the Income Tax Act 1967, the income of a REIT would be exempted from 
income tax provided that the REIT distributes 90% or more of its total income for the year. If the 
REIT is not able to meet the 90% distribution criteria, the entire taxable income of the REIT would be 
subject to income tax.

	 As SENTRAL has paid and declared income distribution of more than 90% of its total income to 
unitholders, the total income of SENTRAL for the year of assessment 2022 shall be exempted from tax.

	 A reconciliation of income tax credit applicable to income before taxation at the statutory income tax 
rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of SENTRAL for the financial years ended 
31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Income before taxation  49,692,010  68,795,599 

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2021: 24%)  11,926,082  16,510,944 

Income not subject to taxation  (17,648,189)  (20,226,947)

Unrealised expenses/(income) not deductible/(subject to tax)  6,087  (2,535)

Exempt income not subject to tax  (459,480)  (466,366)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  6,175,500  4,184,904 

Deferred tax on Real Property Gains Tax (“RPGT”) on  
fair value loss of investment properties  (2,581,701)  (1,450,654)

Income tax credit for the year  (2,581,701)  (1,450,654)

12.	 Earnings per unit (“EPU”)

	 (a)	 EPU after manager’s fees is based on net income for the year of RM52,273,711 (2021: 
RM70,246,253) divided by the units in circulation during the year of 1,071,783,000 (2021: 
1,071,783,000).

	 (b)	 EPU before manager’s fees is based on net income for the year of RM64,494,244 (2021: 
RM82,862,788) after adding back manager’s fees of RM12,220,533 (2021: RM12,616,535) 
divided by the units in circulation during the year of 1,071,783,000 (2021: 1,071,783,000).

	 (c)	 EPU after manager’s fees (realised) is based on realised net income for the year of 
RM73,625,238 (2021: RM84,485,957) divided by the units in circulation during the year of 
1,071,783,000 (2021: 1,071,783,000).
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12.	 Earnings per unit (“EPU”)  (cont’d)

	 (d)	 EPU before manager’s fees (realised) is based on realised net income for the year of 
RM85,845,771 (2021: RM97,102,492) after adding back manager’s fees of RM12,220,533 
(2021: RM12,616,535) divided by the units in circulation during the year of 1,071,783,000 
(2021: 1,071,783,000). 

13.	 Distribution to unitholders	

	 Distribution to the unitholders is from the following sources:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Revenue  148,931,357  160,645,430 

Finance income (Note 7)  1,974,666  2,061,651 

Gain on divestment of investment property  -  3,754,026 

 150,906,023  166,461,107 

Less: Total expenses  (77,280,785)  (81,975,150)

Total realised income/distributable income  73,625,238  84,485,957 

Distribution to unitholders  73,095,601  79,419,121 

Distribution per unit (sen) of which:

- taxable distribution of income (sen)  6.64  6.89 

- tax exempt distribution of income (sen)  0.18  0.52 

Gross distribution per unit (sen) *  6.82  7.41 

	 *	 Income distribution to resident individuals, non-resident individuals, resident institutional 
investors, non-resident institutional investors and non-resident companies are subject to 
withholding tax as follows:

	 Withholding tax rate

 2022  2021 

Resident and non-resident individuals 10% 10% 

Resident and non-resident institutional investors 10% 10% 

Resident companies (flow through) 0% 0% 

Non-resident companies 24% 24% 
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14	 Plant and equipment

 Plant and 
  machinery 

 Office 
 equipment 

 Furniture 
 and fittings  Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

At 31 December 2022

Cost
At 1 January 2022  6,000  648,040   40,008  694,048
Additions  -  4,665  -  4,665 
At 31 December 2022  6,000  652,705  40,008  698,713 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2022  5,998  521,563 34,854  562,415
Depreciation charge for  

the financial year (Note 6)  -  94,598  5,152  99,750 
At 31 December 2022  5,998  616,161  40,006  662,165 
Net carrying amount  2  36,544  2  36,548 

At 31 December 2021

Cost
At 1 January 2021  6,000  856,215   40,008  902,223
Additions  -  35,413  -  35,413 
Disposal  -  (243,588)  -  (243,588)
At 31 December 2021  6,000  648,040  40,008  694,048 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021  5,998  599,604   27,985  633,587
Depreciation charge for  

the financial year (Note 6)  -  165,547  6,869  172,416 
Disposal  -  (243,588)  -  (243,588)
At 31 December 2021  5,998  521,563  34,854  562,415 
Net carrying amount  2  126,477  5,154  131,633 

15.	 Investment properties

 2022  2021 
 RM  RM 

At 1 January  2,065,892,839  2,080,850,585 
Additions from asset enhancements  3,607,864  657,919 
Written off during the year  -  (765,000)
Fair value adjustments  (22,326,272)  (14,658,665)
Other adjustments  -  (192,000)
At 31 December  2,047,174,431  2,065,892,839 
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15.	 Investment properties  (cont’d)

	 The carrying value of the investment properties for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 
2021 is based on the market value determined based on valuations, adjusted with accrued rental 
income as required by MFRS 140: Investment Property, as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Investment properties - fair value  2,060,700,000  2,081,000,000 

Investment properties - accrued rental income (Note 17)  (13,525,569)  (15,107,161)

Investment properties  2,047,174,431  2,065,892,839 

	 On 14 August 2008, the respective pieces of land on which QB1 and QB4 are situated have been 
amalgamated pursuant to the conditions imposed by the Securities Commission during the initial 
public offering of SENTRAL. As such, the valuations for QB1 and QB4 have since been carried out 
based on the amalgamated properties.

	 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which are determined based on valuations performed 
by 4 external valuers, namely Nawawi Tie Leung Property Consultants Sdn. Bhd.; CBRE WTW 
Valuation & Advisory Sdn. Bhd.; Knight Frank Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. and IVPS Property Consultant Sdn. 
Bhd.; independent firms of professional valuers, registered with the Board of Valuers, Appraisers & 
Estate Agents Malaysia using the investment method of valuation.

	 Investment properties with fair value totalling RM1,686,000,000 (2021: RM2,007,000,000) are pledged 
as securities for borrowings as disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.

	 The investment properties are carried at Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy as defined 
in Note 3.20 to the financial statements. There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and 
Level 3 during the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

	 The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within 
Level 3, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

Valuation 
technique

Significant unobservable 
inputs Range

Inter-relationship between significant 
unobservable inputs and fair value 

measurement

2022 2021

Investment 
method 
(refer below)

Office:
Market rental rate (RM/psf/
month)
- Term 

- Reversion

Outgoings (RM/psf/month)
 - Term
 - Reversion
Void rate (%)
Term yield (%)
Reversionary yield (%)
Discount rate (%)

4.55 - 11.8

4.0 - 11.8

0.45 - 1.8
0.75 - 1.8
5.0 - 10.0
5.3 - 6.6
5.5 - 6.8
5.5 - 6.8

4.5 - 11.8

4.0 - 8.0

0.6 - 1.8
0.8 - 2.0
5.0 - 12.5
5.3 - 6.6
5.5 - 6.8
5.5 - 6.5

The estimated fair value would increase/
(decrease) if: 

 - expected market rental growth were 
higher/(lower)
 - expected market rental growth were 
higher/(lower)

 - expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 
 - expected inflation rate were lower/(higher)
 - void rate were lower/(higher)
 - term yield rate were lower/(higher)
 - reversionary yield were lower/(higher) 
 - discount rate is lower/(higher)
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15.	 Investment properties  (cont’d)

	 The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within 
Level 3, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models: (cont’d.)

Valuation 
technique

Significant unobservable 
inputs Range  

Inter-relationship between significant 
unobservable inputs and fair value 

measurement

2022 2021

Investment 
method 
(refer below)

Retail:
Market rental rate (RM/psf/
month)
 - Term 

 - Reversion 

Outgoings (RM/psf/month)
 - Term 
 - Reversion 
Void rate (%)
Term yield  (%)
Reversionary yield (%)
Discount rate (%)

 
 

1.5 - 18.0 

 1.5 - 15.6 

0.2 - 1.55
0.4 - 1.8

5.0 - 10.0
 6.0 - 7.0 
 6.3 - 6.8 
 6.3 - 6.8 

 

1.5 - 18.0 

 1.5 - 15.2 

0.2 - 1.3
0.4 - 1.7

5.0 - 10.0
 6.0 - 7.0 
 6.3 - 6.8 
 6.3 - 6.8 

The estimated fair value would increase/
(decrease) if:

 - expected market rental growth were 
higher/(lower) 
 - expected market rental growth were 
higher/(lower) 

 - expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 
 - expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 
 - void rate were lower/(higher) 
 - term yield rate were lower/(higher) 
 - reversionary yield were lower/(higher) 
 - discount rate is lower/(higher) 

	 Investment method entails the capitalisation of the net rent from a property. Net rent is the residue 
of gross annual rent less annual expenses (outgoings) required to sustain the rent with allowance for 
void and management fees.

16.	 Lease receivables

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Lease receivables  -  91,788 

Current

Lease receivables  91,788  240,915 

	 In financial year 2016 and 2015, SENTRAL entered into a finance lease arrangement with a tenant 
(Quill Building 3 (“QB3”)) to partially finance RM2.6 million and RM1.5 million of fit-out costs upon 
the renewal of tenancy agreement for another 10 years and 7 years respectively. The amount will be 
recovered through the top up rentals cumulatively amounting to RM3.5 million (at the approximate 
internal rate of return of 10.4% per annum) and RM1.9 million (at the approximate internal rate of 
return of 10.7% per annum) respectively.
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17.	 Trade and other receivables

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Non-current

Accrued rental income (Note 15)  13,525,569  15,107,161 

Current

Trade receivables

Trade receivables  1,333,517  1,033,476 

Less: Allowance for impairment  -  (103,202)

Trade receivables, net (a)  1,333,517  930,274 

Other receivables

Deposits  3,175,620  2,728,686 

Prepayments  955,904  1,167,328 

Sundry receivables (b)  663,903  547,696 

 4,795,427  4,443,710 

 6,128,944  5,373,984 

Total trade and other receivables  6,128,944  5,373,984 

Less: Prepayments  (955,904)  (1,167,328)

Add: Deposits, cash and bank balances (Note 18)   79,759,866  93,537,907 

Total loans and receivables  84,932,906  97,744,563 

	 (a)	 Trade receivables

		  Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are generally on 7 to 30 days term (2021: 7 to 30 
days term). They are recognised at the original invoice amounts which represent their fair values 
on initial recognition. 

		  Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables arises mainly due to single tenancy of 
the majority of SENTRAL’s properties. However, the risk is mitigated by the tenants which are 
engaged in diversified businesses and are of good quality and strong credit standing.
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17.	 Trade and other receivables  (cont’d)

	 (a)	 Trade receivables (cont’d)

		  Ageing analysis of trade receivables

		  The ageing analysis of SENTRAL’s trade receivables is as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Neither past due nor impaired  1,269,682  666,547 

31 - 60 days past due not impaired  37,099  160,271 

61 - 90 days past due not impaired  25,409  - 

More than 90 days past due not impaired  1,327  103,456 

 63,835  263,727 

 1,333,517  930,274 

Impaired  -  103,202 

 1,333,517  1,033,476 

		  Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

		  Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good 
payment records with SENTRAL.

		  Receivables that are past due but not impaired
	
		  SENTRAL has trade receivables of RM63,835 (2021: RM263,727) that are past due at the reporting 

date but not impaired. 
	
		  Trade receivables from tenants are secured by security deposits.
	
		  Receivables that are impaired
	
		  SENTRAL’s trade receivables that are individually impaired at the reporting date and the 

movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Trade receivables - nominal amounts  
(after offsetting security deposits)  -  103,202 

Less: Allowance for impairment  -  (103,202)

 -  - 
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17.	 Trade and other receivables  (cont’d)

	 (a)	 Trade receivables  (cont’d)

		  Receivables that are impaired  (cont’d)

		  The movement of allowance accounts is as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  103,202  37,136 

Charge for the financial year  43,264  440,577 

Reversal for the financial year  (146,466)  (374,511)

At 31 December  -  103,202 

		  The Manager assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
trade receivable is impaired. The Manager makes an allowance for impairment after considering 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and 
default or significant delay in payments. 

	 (b)	 Sundry receivables

		  SENTRAL has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a 
single debtor or group of debtors relating to sundry receivables.

18.	 Deposits, cash and bank balances

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions  74,415,886  88,727,239 

Cash on hand and at banks  5,343,980  4,810,668 

Total deposits, cash and bank balances  79,759,866  93,537,907 

Less:

Deposits with licensed financial institution  
with maturity of more than 3 months  (67,104,886)  (69,992,773)

Debt service reserves accounts pledged  (2,278,641)  (3,377,999)

Cash and cash equivalents  10,376,339  20,167,135 

	 Included in deposits with licensed f inancial institutions is an amount of RM2,278,641 (2021: 
RM3,377,999) maintained in the debt service reserves accounts which are assigned for the 
borrowings as disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.

	 Included in cash on hand and at banks is an amount of RM2,983,606 (2021: RM4,065,268) maintained 
in the revenue and operations accounts which are assigned for the borrowings as disclosed in Note 
21 to the financial statements.
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18.	 Deposits, cash and bank balances  (cont’d)

	 The weighted average effective interest rate of deposits per annum is as follows:

 2022  2021 

% % 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions  2.90  2.01 

	 Deposits with licensed financial institutions have an average maturity ranging from 63 to 367 days 
(2021: 38 to 365 days).

19.	 Non-current asset held for sale	

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Investment property

At 1 January  -  40,000,000 

Disposal of investment property  -  (40,000,000)

At 31 December  -  - 
	

	 On 12 November 2020, SENTRAL entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Deriv 
Services Sdn. Bhd. for the proposed disposal of Quill Building 5 (“QB5”), for a cash consideration of 
RM45 million.

	 The proposed disposal was completed on 21 April 2021 in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the above SPA.

20.	 Trade and other payables

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Non-current

Other payables

Deferred lease income (c)  907,693  1,108,964 

Current

Trade payables

Trade payables (a)  532,830  284,495 

Trade accruals  4,144,401  3,911,601 

 4,677,231  4,196,096 



202 Annual Report 2022
SENTRAL REIT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2022
(cont’d)

20.	 Trade and other payables  (cont’d)

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Current

Other payables

Amount due to the Manager (b)  3,185,422  3,366,952 

Other payables (a)  1,384,746  1,389,878 

Accruals  10,942,690  9,670,359 

Deferred lease income (c)  389,351  577,431 

 15,902,209  15,004,620 

 20,579,440  19,200,716 

Total trade and other payables  21,487,133  20,309,680 

Less: Deferred lease income  (1,297,044)  (1,686,395)

Add: Borrowings (Note 21)  804,493,923  805,649,036 

Add: Security deposits (Note 23)  20,143,175  24,419,020 

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost  844,827,187  848,691,341 

	 (a)	 Trade and other payables

		  The normal credit term granted to SENTRAL ranges from 30 to 90 days (2021: 30 to 90 days).

	 (b)	 Amount due to the Manager

		  Amount due to the Manager is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

	 (c)	 Deferred lease income

		  Deferred lease income relates to the difference between the fair value of non-current security 
deposits recognised on initial recognition and the nominal amount received, which is amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms ranging from 1 to 9 years (2021: 1 to 9 years).

		  The movement of deferred lease income (current and non-current) is as follows:

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  1,686,395  2,263,826 

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 7)  (389,351)  (577,431)

At 31 December  1,297,044  1,686,395 
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20.	 Trade and other payables  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Deferred lease income  (cont’d)

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Representing:

Current  389,351  577,431 

Non-current  907,693  1,108,964 

 1,297,044  1,686,395 

21.	 Borrowings

 2022 2021

Note  RM  RM 

Non-current

Secured:

Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (a)  -  76,943,806 

CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM450 million (b)  340,731,047  340,606,987 

CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM3,000 million (Issue 3)* (c)  129,737,594  - 

CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM3,000 million (Issue 1)** (d)  334,025,282  258,105,661 

 804,493,923  675,656,454 

Current

Secured:

CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM3,000 million (Issue 2)* (c)  -  129,992,582 

 -  129,992,582 

Total  804,493,923  805,649,036 

	 * 	 The programme was established through its SPE, Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Kinabalu”).
	 ** 	 The programme was established through its SPE, Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Trusmadi”).
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 The maturities of SENTRAL’s borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows:
	

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Less than 1 year  -  129,992,582 

More than 1 year and less than 5 years  804,493,923  675,656,454 

 804,493,923  805,649,036 

	 Other information on financial risks of borrowings are disclosed in Note 34(a) and Note 34(c) to the 
financial statements.

	 (a)	F ixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (“RM150 million Term Loan”) under 
Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd.

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Term loan drawdown  77,000,000  117,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (56,194)  (89,897)

 76,943,806  116,910,103 

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  56,194  33,703 

Partial redemption on 13 September 2021  -  (40,000,000)

Full redemption on 14 March 2022  (77,000,000)  - 

 -  76,943,806 

		  On 18 July 2013, SENTRAL through its SPE, Trusmadi, established a RM150 million Fixed Rate 
Term Loan Facility agreement for 5 years (“RM150 million Term Loan”).

		  On 13 September 2013, Tranche 1 of the Facility of RM117 million at the interest rate of 4.60% per 
annum was drawndown to repay the RM117 million MTN outstanding under the RM134 million 
CP/MTN Programme which matured on 13 September 2013. Tranche 2 will be used for capital 
expenditure and investments at the interest rate of Reference Malaysian Government Securities 
(“MGS”) + 1.4% per annum.

		  On 13 September 2018, the term loan facility was extended for a further term of five (5) years 
from 13 September 2018 to 13 September 2023, at an interest rate of 4.75% per annum.

		  On 13 September 2021, RM40 million term loan facility was redeemed early via the proceeds 
from the disposal of QB5.

		  On 14 March 2022, the balance of RM77 million term loan facility was early redeemed using 
the proceeds from the new issuance of RM77 million Medium Term Notes (“MTN”) issued by 
Trusmadi (as disclosed under Note 21(d)) to the financial statements). As such, there was no 
outstanding balance under RM150 million Term Loan as at 31 December 2022.
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (a)	F ixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (“RM150 million Term Loan”) under 
Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised over the tenure of the 
programme and are charged to profit or loss.

		  The RM150 million Term Loan is secured, inter-alia by the following: 

		  (i)	 Third party f irst legal charge over Wisma Technip (“WT”), respectively disclosed as 
investment properties in Note 15 to the financial statements (collectively, the “Charged 
Properties”);

		  (ii)	 Third party legal assignment of the SPA for the acquisitions of part of Plaza Mont’ Kiara 
(“PMK”), respectively disclosed as investment properties in Note 15 to the f inancial 
statements (the “Assigned Property”);

		  (iii)	 First party debenture over all present and future assets of Trusmadi;

		  (iv)	 An undertaking from the Manager:

			   (a)	 to deposit all income/insurance proceeds generated from the Charged and Assigned 
Property (collectively, the “Secured Properties”) into the Revenue Accounts; and

			   (b)	 that it shall not declare any dividends/distributions to unitholders if:

				    -	 an event of default has occurred under the Transaction Documents, is 
continuing and has not been waived; or

				    -	 the financial covenants are not met prior and after such distribution; 

		  (v)	 First legal charge or third party assignment by the Trustee for the Revenue Accounts, 
Operations Accounts and a first party assignment by Trusmadi for the Debt Service 
Reserves Account;

		  (vi)	 Third party legal assignment of all the proceeds under the tenancy/lease agreements of 
the Secured Properties;

		  (vii)	 Third party assignment over all rights, title, interest and benefits under all the insurance 
policies in relation to the Secured Properties;

		  (viii)	 First legal assignment over the REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into between 
Trusmadi and the Trustee; and

		  (ix)	 Third party first legal charge over the entire shares of Trusmadi.
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Commercial Papers (“CP”)/Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) (collectively the “CP/MTN 
Programme”) of up to RM450 million in nominal value (“RM450 million Programme”) under 
Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd.

		  RM341 million in nominal value of MTN

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of MTN issued  341,000,000  341,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (393,013)  (517,028)

 340,606,987  340,482,972 

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  124,060  124,015 

 340,731,047  340,606,987 

		  On 30 March 2020, SENTRAL through its SPE, Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Murud”) established a 
RM450 million nominal value of CP/MTN Programme for a tenure of 7 years.  On the same day, 
RM341 million nominal values of MTNs were issued at the blended interest rate of 3.99% per 
annum, the proceeds from the issuance were utilised to repay the existing RM244 million Senior 
CP and RM91 million Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan which were due on 30 March 2020, 
and the balance is for working capital purposes. Balance as at 31 December 2022 includes fixed 
rate MTN amounting to RM125,900,622 (2021: RM125,854,781).

		  The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised to profit or loss over the tenure 
of the programme.

		  The RM450 million programme is secured, inter-alia by the following:

		  (i) 	 A third party first ranking legal charge over Platinum Sentral, disclosed as investment 
properties in Note 15 to the financial statements (“Secured Property”);

		  (ii)	 A first party first ranking debenture over all present and future assets of Murud;

		  (iii)	 An irrevocable and unconditional undertaking from the Manager: 

			   (a)	 to deposit all rental income, deposits, other income, insurance claim proceeds 
in relation to the Secured Property and any proceeds generated from the Secured 
Property into the Revenue Account; and

			   (b)	 that it shall not declare any dividends/distributions to unitholders if: 

				    - 	 an event of default has occurred under the Transaction Documents, is 
continuing and has not been waived or remedied, or following such declaration 
of dividends or distributions, an event of default would occur; or 

				    - 	 the financial covenants are not met prior to and/or after such distribution;
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (b)	 Commercial Papers (“CP”)/Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) (collectively the “CP/MTN 
Programme”) of up to RM450 million in nominal value (“RM450 million Programme”) under 
Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  RM341 million in nominal value of MTN  (cont’d)

		  The RM450 million programme is secured, inter-alia by the following:  (cont’d)

		  (iv)	 Assignment and charge over the Designated Accounts as follows:

			   (a) 	 third party assignment and charge over the Revenue Account and Operations 
Account by the Trustee; and

			   (b) 	 first party assignment and charge of the Debt Service Reserves Account by Murud;

		  (v)	 Third party legal assignment of all the proceeds under the tenancy/lease agreements of 
the Secured Property and any part thereof;

		  (vi)	 Third party legal assignment over all rights, title, interest and benefits under all the 
insurance policies in relation to the Secured Property;

		  (vii)	 An irrevocable Power of Attorney to be granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security 
Trustee to manage and dispose of the Secured Property upon declaration of a trigger event;

		  (viii)	 First party legal assignment over the REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into 
between Murud and the Trustee;

		  (ix)	 Third party first ranking legal charge over 100% of the shares of Murud; and

		  (x)	 Any other securities deemed appropriate and mutually agreed between Murud and the 
Lead Arranger prior to execution of all the Transaction Documents.

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Issue 1 (i) - -

Issue 2 (ii)  -  129,992,582 

Issue 3 (iii)  129,737,594  - 

 129,737,594  129,992,582 

		  (i)	 On 17 December 2021, the entire Issue 1 of RM200 million in nominal value of CPs and 
RM20 million MTN was early redeemed using the proceeds from the new issuance of MTNs 
of RM3,000 million in nominal value (“MTN Programme”), and the Commercial Papers 
(“CPs”) Programme of RM300 million in nominal value issued by Trusmadi (as disclosed in 
Note 21(d) to the financial statements). As such, there was no outstanding balance under 
Issue 1 CP/MTN programme as at 31 December 2021.
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  (i)	 (a)	 RM144 million in nominal value of CP and RM20 million in nominal value of MTN 
(“Issue 1”) issued on 22 December 2016

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of CP/MTN issued  -  164,000,000 

Discount  -  (1,895,592)

Cash proceeds  -  162,104,408 

Accretion of interest expense  -  1,895,592 

 -  164,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  -  (85,927)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  -  85,927 

Full redemption on 17 December 2021  -  (164,000,000)

 -  - 

		  (i)	 (b)	 RM21 million in nominal value of CP (“Issue 1”) issued on 6 March 2017

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of CP issued  -  21,000,000 

Discount  -  (153,444)

Cash proceeds  -  20,846,556 

Accretion of interest expense  -  153,444 

 -  21,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  -  (8,386)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  -  8,386 

Full redemption on 17 December 2021  -  (21,000,000)

 -  - 
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  (i)	 (c)	 RM35 million in nominal value of CP (“Issue 1”) issued on 29 March 2019

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of CP issued  -  35,000,000 

Discount  -  (204,592)

Cash proceeds  -  34,795,408 

Accretion of interest expense  -  204,592 

 -  35,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  -  (1,954)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  -  1,954 

Full redemption on 17 December 2021  -  (35,000,000)

 -  - 

		  (ii)	 RM40 million in nominal value of CP and RM130 million in nominal value of MTN 
(“Issue 2”) issued on 6 March 2017

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of CPs/MTN issued  130,000,000  170,000,000 

Discount  -  (292,274)

Cash proceeds  130,000,000  169,707,726 

Accretion of interest expense  -  292,274 

 130,000,000  170,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (7,418)  (67,888)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  7,418  60,470 

Partial redemption on 17 December 2021  -  (40,000,000)

Full redemption on 4 March 2022  (130,000,000)  -   

 -    129,992,582 
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  (ii)	 RM40 million in nominal value of CP and RM130 million in nominal value of MTN 
(“Issue 2”) issued on 6 March 2017  (cont’d)

			   On 6 March 2017,  RM40 million in nominal value of CPs and RM130 million nominal value 
of MTNs from the CP and MTN Programme were issued at the interest rate of 4.14% per 
annum and 4.40% per annum respectively. The proceeds raised from this issuance were 
utilised to redeem the CPs/MTNs under the RM270 million CP/MTN Programme which 
matured on 6 March 2017.

			   On 17 December 2021,  the Issue 2 of RM40 million in nominal value of CPs were early 
redeemed using the proceeds from the new issuance of MTNs of RM3,000 million in 
nominal value (“MTN Programme”), and the Commercial Papers (“CPs”) Programme 
of RM300 million in nominal value issued by Trusmadi (as disclosed in Note 21(d) to the 
financial statements).  

			   On 4 March 2022, the proceeds from the new issuance of RM130 million MTN issued by 
Kinabalu under Issue 3 were utilised to fully redeem the Issue 2 of RM130 million in nominal 
value of MTN matured on the same day.

			   The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised over the tenure of the 
programme and are charged to profit or loss.

			   The CPs/MTN outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are subject to 
the following interest rates as at the reporting date:

 2022  2021 

 %  % 

RM130 million nominal value MTN  -  4.40 

			   The Issue 2 is secured, inter-alia by the following:

			   (i)	 A third party first legal charge by Trustee over QB1, QB4, QB2 and Lotuss, disclosed as 
investment properties in Note 15 to the financial statements (collectively, the “Secured 
Properties - Issue 2”); 

			   (ii)	 An undertaking from the Manager: 

				    (a)	 to deposit all rental, cash flows, deposits, other income, and insurance claim 
proceeds in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 2 and any proceeds 
generated from Secured Properties - Issue 2 into the relevant Revenue Accounts; 
and

				    (b)	 that it shall not make or permit to make any withdrawal from the revenue 
accounts; operations accounts; Debt Service Reserve Account (“DSRA”) 
(collectively, the “Designated Accounts - Issue 2”) for the declaration of any 
dividends or distributions to unitholders, if:

					     -	 an event of default and/or trigger event under Issue 2 has occurred and is 
continuing or will occur as a result of such payment or distribution; or

					     -	 the financial covenants under Issue 2 are not met prior to and/or after such 
distribution;
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  (ii)	 RM40 million in nominal value of CP and RM130 million in nominal value of MTN 
(“Issue 2”) issued on 6 March 2017  (cont’d)

			   The Issue 2 is secured, inter-alia by the following:  (cont’d)

			   (iii)	 First ranking legal charge and assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under the Designated Accounts - Issue 2 (i.e. third party legal assignment and 
charge by the Trustee over the Revenue Account and Operations Account; and a first 
party legal assignment by the Kinabalu over the DSRA);

			   (iv)	 Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under the proceeds deriving from the tenancy/lease agreements in relation 
to the Secured Properties - Issue 2, including the rights to sue and to recover such 
proceeds from the tenants or lessees;

			   (v)	 Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under the insurance policies in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 2;

			   (vi)	 An irrevocable Power of Attorney granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security 
Trustee to dispose the Secured Properties - Issue 2 upon declaration of a trigger event 
under Issue 2;

			   (vii)	 First party assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 
REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into between Kinabalu; the Trustee and 
the Security Trustee for the provision of the inter-company loan from Kinabalu to the 
Trustee from the proceeds raised from the Issue 2.

		  (iii)	 RM130 million in nominal value of MTNs (“Issue 3”) issued on 4 March 2022

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of MTNs issued  130,000,000  - 

Transaction costs on MTN issued  (314,823)  - 

Amortisation of transaction costs during the period  52,417  - 

 129,737,594  - 

			   On 4 March 2022, RM130 million in nominal value of MTN under Issue 3 was issued, where 
the proceeds from the issuance were utilised to fully repay the Issue 2 of RM130 million in 
nominal value of MTN under Kinabalu which matured on the same day.

			   The MTN outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are subject to the 
following average interest rates as at the reporting date:

 2022  2021 

 %  % 

RM130 million nominal value MTN  4.18  - 
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (c)	 Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme 
(“MTN Programme”) with aggregate combined limit of RM3,000 million in nominal value 
(“RM3,000 million Programme”) under Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  (ii)	 RM130 million in nominal value of MTNs (“Issue 3”) issued on 4 March 2022  (cont’d)

	 		  The Issue 3 is secured, inter-alia by the following: 

			   (i)	 A third party first legal charge by REIT Trustee over QB1, QB4, QB3 and Lotuss, 
disclosed as investment properties in Note 15 to the financial statements (collectively, 
the “Secured Properties - Issue 3”);

			   (ii)	 An undertaking from the Manager: 

				    (a)	 to deposit all rental, cash flows, deposits, other income, and insurance claim 
proceeds in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 3 and any proceeds 
generated from Secured Properties - Issue 3 into the relevant Revenue Accounts; 
and

				    (b)	 that it shall not make or permit to make any withdrawal from the revenue 
accounts; Operations Accounts; Debt Service Reserve Account (“DSRA”) 
(collectively, the “Designated Accounts - Issue 3”) for the declaration of any 
dividends or distributions to unitholders, if:

					     -	 an event of default and/or trigger event under Issue 3 has occurred and is 
continuing or will occur as a result of such payment or distribution; or

					     -	 the financial covenants under Issue 3 are not met prior to and/or after such 
distribution;

			   (iii)	 First ranking legal charge and assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under the Designated Accounts – Issue 3 (i.e. third party legal assignment and 
charge by the Trustee over the Revenue Accounts  and Operations Accounts; and a 
first party legal assignment by the Kinabalu over the DSRA);

			   (iv)	 Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under such tenancy/lease agreements in relation to the Secured Properties – 
Issue 3 including the rights to sue and to recover such proceeds from the tenants or 
lessees. 

			   (v)	 Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits 
in and under the insurance policies in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 3;

			   (vi)	 An irrevocable Power of Attorney granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security 
Trustee to dispose the Secured Properties - Issue 3 upon declaration of a trigger event 
under Issue 3;

			   (vii)	 First party assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 
REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into between Kinabalu; the Trustee and 
the Security Trustee for the provision of the inter-company loan from Kinabalu to the 
Trustee from the proceeds raised from the Issue 3.



213FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
(cont’d)

21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (d)	 Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) Programme of RM3,000 million in nominal value (“MTN 
Programme”), and the Commercial Papers (“CPs”) Programme of RM300 million in nominal 
value (“CP Programme”), subject to a combined limit of up to RM3,000 million in aggregate 
in nominal value (collectively the “Programmes”) under Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd.

		  (i)	 (a)	 RM20 million in nominal value of MTN (“Issue 1”) issued on 17 December 2021

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of MTN  20,000,000  20,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (41,912)  - 

19,958,088 20,000,000

Transaction costs on MTN issued  (804)  (42,622)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  8,691  710 

 19,965,975  19,958,088 

		  (i)	 (b)	 RM240 million in nominal value of CPs (“Issue 1”) issued on 17 December 2021

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of CPs  240,000,000  240,000,000 

Discount  (2,530,724)  (1,619,384)

Cash proceeds  237,469,276  238,380,616 

Accretion of interest expenses  478,025  269,898 

 237,947,301  238,650,514 

Transaction costs carried forward  (502,941)  - 

Transaction costs on CPs issued  (9,661)  (511,456)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  104,296  8,515 

 237,538,995  238,147,573 

		  (i)	 (c)	 RM77 million in nominal value of MTN (“Issue 1”) issued on 14 March 2022

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Face value of MTN  77,000,000  - 

Transaction costs on MTN issued  (575,267)  - 

Amortisation of transaction costs

during the period  95,579  - 

 76,520,312  - 

Total Issue 1  334,025,282  258,105,661 
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21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (d)	 Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) Programme of RM3,000 million in nominal value (“MTN 
Programme”), and the Commercial Papers (“CPs”) Programme of RM300 million in nominal 
value (“CP Programme”), subject to a combined limit of up to RM3,000 million in aggregate 
in nominal value (collectively the “Programmes”) under Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  On 17 December 2021, SENTRAL through its SPE, Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Trusmadi”) 
established a CP programme of up to RM300 million in nominal value (“CP Programme”); 
and MTN perpetual programme of up to RM3,000 million (“MTN Perpetual Programme”).  The 
CP Programme shall have a legal tenure of 7 years from the date of the first issue of the CP 
Programme, whereas the MTN Programme shall have a perpetual tenure.

		  On 17 December 2021, a total of RM240 million in nominal value of CPs and RM20 million in 
nominal value of MTNs out of each respective programme were issued, where the proceeds 
from the issuance were utilised to repay the existing RM20 million MTN and RM200 million CPs 
under Kinabalu Capital CPMTN-Issue 1 and RM40 million CP under Kinabalu Capital CPMTN-
Issue 2 which was due on 22 December 2021, and the balance is for working capital purposes.

		  On 14 March 2022, RM77 million in nominal value of MTN was issued, where the proceeds from 
the issuance were utilised to repay the existing RM77 million Term Loan under Trusmadi which 
was early redeemed on the same day.

		  The CPs/MTNs outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are subject to the 
following interest rates as at the reporting date:

 2022  2021 

 %  % 

RM205 million nominal value CP  4.24  2.70 

RM35 million nominal value CP  4.49  2.95 

RM20 million nominal value MTN  3.40  3.40 

RM77 million nominal value MTN  5.20  - 

		  The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised to profit or loss over the tenure 
of the programmes.

		  The Issue 1 is secured, inter-alia by the following:

		  (i)	 A third party first legal charge by REIT Trustee over the Secured Property – Issue 1; refer to 
Menara Shell;

		  (ii)	 An undertaking from the Manager: 

			   (a)	 to deposit all rental, cash flows, deposits, other income, and insurance claim proceeds 
in relation to the Secured Property – Issue 1 and any other proceeds generated from 
Secured Property  - Issue 1 into the Revenue Account – Issue 1 ; and

			   (b)	 that it shall not make or permit to make any withdrawal from the Designated 
Accounts – Issue 1 (as defined hereinafter) for the declaration of any dividends or 
distributions to Sentral REIT’s unitholders, if:

				    -	 an Event of Default and/or Trigger Event under Issue 1 has occurred and is 
continuing or will occur as a result of such payment or distribution; or

				    -	 the Financial Covenants under Issue 1 are not met prior to and/or will not be met 
after such payment or distribution;



215FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
(cont’d)

21.	 Borrowings  (cont’d)

	 (d)	 Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) Programme of RM3,000 million in nominal value (“MTN 
Programme”), and the Commercial Papers (“CPs”) Programme of RM300 million in nominal 
value (“CP Programme”), subject to a combined limit of up to RM3,000 million in aggregate 
in nominal value (collectively the “Programmes”) under Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd.  (cont’d)

		  The Issue 1 is secured, inter-alia by the following: (cont’d)

		  (iii)	 First ranking charge and assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and 
under the Designated Accounts – Issue 1 (i.e. third party assignment and charge by the 
Trustee over the Revenue Account – Issue 1 and Operations Account – Issue 1); and a first 
party assignment and charge by Trusmadi over the Debt Service Ratio Account (“DSRA”) - 
Issue 1, all in relation to the Secured Property - Issue 1);

		  (iv)	 Third party assignment over all the REIT Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and 
under such tenancy/lease agreements in relation to the Secured Property - Issue 1;

		  (v)	 Third party assignment over all the REIT Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and 
under the insurance policies in relation to the Secured Property - Issue 1;

		  (vi)	 An irrevocable Power of Attorney to be granted by the REIT Trustee in favour of the Security 
Trustee to deal with (including application for subdivision, if any and the collection of title 
on behalf of REIT Trustee), and to dispose the Secured Property  - Issue 1 upon declaration 
of a Trigger Event under Issue 1;

		  (vii)	 First party assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the “REIT 
Trustee Financing Agreement – Issue 1” entered into between Trusmadi, the Trustee and 
the Security Trustee for the provision of the inter-company loan from Trusmadi to the 
Trustee from the proceeds raised from the Issue 1.	
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22.	 Deferred tax liabilities

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of financial year  12,132,721  13,583,375 

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 11)  (2,581,701)  (1,450,654)

At end of financial year  9,551,020  12,132,721 

	 The deferred tax liabilities relates to the provision of deferred tax liabilities on RPGT on the fair value 
gain of investment properties.

23.	 Security deposits
	

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  24,419,020  24,912,941 

Net additional/(refunded) during the financial year  (4,301,209)  (483,360)

Recognised in profit or loss:

Deferred lease income (Note 20(c))  (389,351)  (577,431)

Unwinding of discount on security deposits (Note 10)  414,715  566,870 

At 31 December  20,143,175  24,419,020 

Representing:

Non-current  14,832,962  11,716,798 

Current  5,310,213  12,702,222 

 20,143,175  24,419,020 

24.	 Unitholders’ capital

 2022  2021 

Number of units

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the year/end of the year  1,071,783,000  1,071,783,000 

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Amount

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the year/end of the year  1,235,876,768  1,235,876,768 
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25.	 Investments in SPEs

	 Details of SPEs are as follows:
	

Name of SPEs
Country of

incorporation Principal activity
 Proportion of

 ownership interest 

 2022  2021 

 %  % 

Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for SENTRAL  100  100 

Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for SENTRAL  100  100 

Samwise Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for SENTRAL  100  100 

Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for SENTRAL  100  100 

	 All the above SPEs are audited by Ernst & Young PLT, Malaysia.

26.	 Commitments

	 (a)	 Capital commitments

		  Capital expenditure as at reporting date is as follows:
	

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Capital expenditure approved and contracted  
for investment properties  7,424,036  6,601,586 

	 (b)	 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

As lessor

Future minimum rental receivable:

Not later than 1 year  136,320,999  123,610,639 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  356,765,454  361,987,617 

Later than 5 years  45,152,074  83,224,396 

 538,238,527  568,822,652 

		  SENTRAL has entered into leases on its investment properties. The non-cancellable leases have 
remaining lease terms of between one to ten years (2021: between one to eleven years). 
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27.	 Net asset value per unit

	 The calculation of net asset value per unit is based on 1,071,783,000 units (2021: 1,071,783,000 units) in 
circulation as at 31 December 2022.

28.	 Unitholdings by the Manager

	 On 17 October 2022, the Manager had transferred all the unitholdings of 2,857,000 units of SENTRAL, 
for the payment of dividend in specie to its three shareholders, as follows:

Number 
of units

(i) Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad  1,171,000 

(ii) Quill Resources Holding Sdn. Bhd.  1,114,000 

(iii) Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.  572,000 

 2,857,000

	 As at 31 December 2022, the Manager does not have any unitholdings in SENTRAL.

29.	 Unitholders related to the Manager

 SENTRAL 

Number 
of units 

 2022 

 Number 
of units 

 2021 

 Percentage 
 of total 

 units 
 2022 

 Percentage 
 of total 

 units 
 2021 

 Market 
 value 
 2022 

 %  %  RM 

Malaysian Resources Corporation 
Berhad (“MRCB”)  299,468,000  298,297,000  27.94  27.83  268,023,860 

HLIB Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
for:

Quill Land Sdn. Bhd. (“QLSB”)  59,040,000  59,040,000  5.51  5.51  52,840,800 

Sentral REIT Management Sdn. Bhd.  -  2,857,000  -  0.27  - 

Quill Resources Holding Sdn. Bhd. 
(“QRSB”)  1,475,000  361,000  0.14  0.03  1,320,125 

Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.  757,000  185,000  0.07  0.02  677,515 

 360,740,000  360,740,000  33.66  33.66  322,862,300 
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29.	 Unitholders related to the Manager  (cont’d)

 SENTRAL 

Number 
of units 

 2022 

Number 
of units 

 2021 

 Percentage 
 of total 

 units 
 2022 

 Percentage 
 of total 

 units 
 2021 

 Market 
 value 
 2022 

 %  %  RM 

The Manager’s directors’ direct 
unitholding in SENTRAL:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.  50,000  50,000  0.00  0.00  44,750 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun  55,000  55,000  0.01  0.01  49,225 

Kwan Joon Hoe  450,000  450,000  0.04  0.04  402,750 

Po Yih Ming  20,000  -  0.00  -  17,900 

The Manager’s directors’ indirect 
unitholding in SENTRAL:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. (a)  60,515,000  59,401,000  5.65  5.54  54,160,925 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun (b)  60,515,000  59,401,000  5.65  5.54  54,160,925 

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon (c)  757,000  185,000  0.07  0.02  677,515 

	 (a)	 Deemed interest by virtue of her direct shareholding in QLSB and QRSB.

	 (b)	 Deemed interest by virtue of his direct shareholding in QLSB and QRSB.

	 (c)	 Deemed interest by way of his substantial shareholding in Morningale Sdn. Bhd. and Jendela 
Elit Sdn. Bhd., which in turn are substantial shareholders of Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd..

30.	 Management expense ratio

 2022  2021 

 %  % 

Management expense ratio (“MER”)  1.09  1.10 

	 MER is calculated based on the total fees including Manager’s fees, Trustee’s fees, auditor’s fees, tax 
agent’s fees, valuation fees and administration expenses charged to SENTRAL divided by the average 
net asset value during the financial year calculated on a monthly basis.

	 Since the basis of calculating MER can vary among real estate investment trusts, comparison of 
SENTRAL’s MER with other REITs which use a different basis of calculation may not be an accurate 
comparison.
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31.	 Related parties transactions

	 The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the financial year. 

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

(i) Car park income from Semasa Parking Sdn. Bhd.

- Platinum Sentral  1,508,907  1,866,661 

- Menara Shell  2,418,758  2,174,289 

(ii) Auxiliary police services with Semasa Sentral Sdn. Bhd.

- Platinum Sentral  (418,997)  (418,997)

- Menara Shell  (499,285)  (500,659)

(iii) Supply of chilled water services with Semasa 
District Cooling Sdn. Bhd.  (2,569,611)  (2,448,959)

(iv) Lease of land at Platinum Sentral with Malaysian 
Resources Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  67,078  67,078 

(v) Reimbursement of insurance to Kuala Lumpur Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  (11,714)  (12,514)

(vi) Reimbursements to 348 Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  (2,695,531)  (2,479,329)

(vii) Reimbursement to Joint Management 
Body for Lot 348  (153,413)  (153,413)

	 Details of material contracts with related parties other than as disclosed in Note 8 to the financial 
statements are as follows:

	 (i)	 SENTRAL appointed Semasa Parking Sdn. Bhd. (“SPSB”) as the car park operator for Platinum 
Sentral for a period of 1 year commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, at a 
guaranteed monthly rental of RM95,000 with a profit sharing basis in the proportion of 
90% (SENTRAL): 10% (SPSB) ratio. The total amount received for the financial year ended 31 
December 2022 amounted to RM1,508,907 (2021: RM1,866,661).

		  On 20 December 2019, SENTRAL appointed SPSB as the car park operator for Menara Shell for a 
period of 3 years commencing from 22 December 2019 to 21 December 2022,  at a monthly fee 
of RM180,000 per month. SENTRAL entered into a carpark agreement with SPSB for a period of 
3 years commencing from 22 December 2022 to 21 December 2025, at a guaranteed monthly 
rental of RM200,000 with a profit sharing basis in the proportion of 90% (SENTRAL): 10% (SPSB) 
ratio. The total amount received for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to 
RM2,418,758 (2021: RM2,174,289).

		  SPSB was incorporated in Malaysia on 6 August 1997 and its principal activity is operation and 
management of car parks and parking areas.

		  SPSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of SENTRAL 
and also a major shareholder of SRM.
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31.	 Related parties transactions  (cont’d)

	 Details of material contracts with related parties other than as disclosed in Note 8 to the financial 
statements are as follows:  (cont’d)

	 (ii)	 On 29 August 2019, SENTRAL appointed Semasa Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“SSSB”) to provide auxiliary 
police services at Menara Shell and Platinum Sentral for a period of two (2) years commencing 
from 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2021 at the monthly rate of RM41,722 and RM34,916 
(including service tax) respectively. The said agreements were renewed for additional 2 years 
commencing from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2023 at the same rate.

		  Auxiliary police services with SSSB for deployment of auxiliary police personnel from 1 January 
2022 up to 31 December 2022, at Platinum Sentral and Menara Shell amounted to RM418,997 
(2021: RM418,997) and RM499,285 (2021: RM500,659) respectively.

		  SSSB was incorporated in Malaysia on 4 May 1982 and its principal activity is maintaining, 
operating and management of the Kuala Lumpur Sentral Station.

		  The entire issued share capital of SSSB is held by MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of 
SENTRAL and also a major shareholder of SRM.

	 (iii)	 Supply of chilled water by Semasa District Cooling Sdn. Bhd. (‘’SDCSB”) for installation, 
maintenance and meter reading for Platinum Sentral. The year to date charges for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to RM2,569,611 (2021: RM2,448,959). 

		  SDCSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of SENTRAL 
and also a major shareholder of SRM.

	 (iv)	 Lease agreement with Malaysian Resources Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“MRSSB”) on lease of 2 pieces of 
land located on Platinum Sentral, measuring total NLA of 156,959 sq. ft., for a rental amounting 
to RM67,078 per year.

		  MRSSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of SENTRAL 
and also a major shareholder of SRM.	

	 (v)	 Reimbursement of insurance to Kuala Lumpur Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“KLSSB”) for Platinum Sentral 
Lot E deck from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 amounting to RM11,714 (from 1 April 2021 to 31 
March 2022 amounting to RM12,514).

		  KLSSB is a subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of SENTRAL and also a major 
shareholder of SRM.

	 (vi)	 Reimbursement of chilled water to 348 Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“348 Sentral”) for Menara Shell 
amounting to RM2,695,531 for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RM2,479,329).

		  348 Sentral is a subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of SENTRAL and also a 
major shareholder of SRM.

	 (vii)	 Maintenance and sinking fund charged by Joint Management Body for Lot 348 (“JMB Lot 
348”) for Menara Shell for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 amounting to 
RM23,065 (2021: RM23,065) and reimbursement of insurance for 2022 amounting to RM130,348 
(2021: RM130,348) respectively.

		  JMB Lot 348 is established on 1 August 2017 under Section 17(2) of the Strata Management Act 
2013. The committee of JMB Lot 348 consists of three (3) members of whom, 2 members are 
from SRM and 1 member from 348 Sentral.
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32.	 Subsequent event

	 Proposed change in shareholding structure of SRM

	 On 6 October 2022, SRM announced that the existing shareholders of SRM, namely Quill Resources 
Holding Sdn. Bhd. (“QRSB”) and Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad (“MRCB”) entered 
into a Share Sale Agreement dated 4 October 2022, whereby QRSB had agreed to dispose 
their shareholding of 39%, representing 390,000 ordinary shares in the capital of SRM to MRCB.

	 On 12 January 2023, SRM had received the approval from Securities Commission Malaysia on the 
proposed change in shareholding of SRM.

	 Following the completion of the Share Sale Agreement between QRSB and MRCB on 19 January 
2023, the new shareholding structure of SRM is as follows:

Shareholders % of Shareholding

Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad 80%

Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd. 20%

33.	Fair  value of financial instruments

	 (a)	 Determination of fair value

		  Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and where carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximations of fair value.

		  The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are reasonable approximations of fair value:

Note

Trade and other receivables 17

Lease receivables 16

Deposits, cash and bank balances 18

Borrowings 21

Trade and other payables (including security deposits) 20

		  The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximations of 
fair values, either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that 
are repriced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date.

		  The fair values of long term borrowings and security deposits are estimated by discounting 
expected future cash flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, 
borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date.
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33.	Fair  value of financial instruments  (cont’d)

	 (b)	F air value measurement

		  SENTRAL uses the hierarchy as disclosed in Note 3.20 to the financial statements in determining 
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments.

		  Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities as at 31 
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows:

 Total  Level 3 

 RM  RM 

As at 31 December 2022

Assets measured at fair value

Investment properties  2,060,700,000  2,060,700,000 

As at 31 December 2021

Assets measured at fair value

Investment properties  2,081,000,000  2,081,000,000 

		  Level 3 fair value

		  Level 3 fair value of investment properties has been derived using the investment method as 
described in Note 15 to the financial statements.

		  There were no material transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial year.

34.	Financial  risk management objectives and policies

	 SENTRAL is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and use of financial instruments, 
including interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

	 SENTRAL has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the costs of risks 
occurring and the costs of managing the risks. The Manager continuously monitors the Group’s risk 
management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. 
Risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
SENTRAL’s activities.

	 The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors the compliance with stated 
risk management policies and procedures, assisted by the internal auditor. The internal auditor 
undertakes regular review of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.
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34.	Financial  risk management objectives and policies  (cont’d)

	 The following section provides details of SENTRAL’s exposures to the above mentioned risks and the 
objectives and policies for the management of these risks: 

	 (a)	 Interest rate risk

		  SENTRAL’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to borrowings as disclosed 
in Note 21 to the financial statements. Interest rate is managed on an on-going basis with the 
primary objective of limiting the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by 
adverse movements in interest rates.

		  Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

		  At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 25 basis points (“bps”) lower/higher, with all 
other variables remain constant, SENTRAL’s income net of taxation as a result of lower/higher 
interest income on short term deposits and interest expense on floating rate loans and 
borrowings would have the following effects:

	 Increase/(decrease) in 
	 income, net of taxation

 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Interest rate

-  25 bps  869,500  696,000 

+ 25 bps  (869,500)  (696,000)

	 (b)	 Credit risk 

		  Credit risk is defined as the risk of potential financial loss resulting from failure of a customer or 
counterparty to settle its financial and contractual obligations to SENTRAL as and when they fall due.

		  SENTRAL’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables. The risk is controlled 
by credit verif ication procedures before lease agreements are entered into with tenants 
to ensure creditworthy and good standing tenants are selected. SENTRAL has a stringent 
collection policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is mitigated by diligent on-going 
monitoring of outstanding receivables and collection of security deposits from tenants. 

		  For other financial assets, SENTRAL minimises the credit risk by dealing with high credit rating 
counterparties and/or reputable and licensed financial institutions.

		  As at 31 December 2022, SENTRAL’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of its financial assets as follows: 

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Trade and other receivables * 17  5,173,040  4,206,656 

Deposits, cash and bank balances 18  79,759,866  93,537,907 

Lease receivables 16  91,788  332,703

		  * Trade and other receivables exclude prepayments.



227FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
(cont’d)

34.	Financial  risk management objectives and policies  (cont’d)

	 The following section provides details of SENTRAL’s exposures to the above mentioned risks and the 
objectives and policies for the management of these risks:  (Cont’d)

	 (c)	 Liquidity risk 

		  Liquidity risk is the risk that SENTRAL will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds, which may potentially arise from mismatches of maturities of 
financial assets and liabilities. As the timing of funding arrangements can be critical, SENTRAL 
may be exposed to the risk of its real estate properties being foreclosed in the interim. 

		  To mitigate liquidity risk, the Manager maintains adequate level of cash and cash equivalents 
and arranges for refinancing of SENTRAL’s borrowings on a timely basis to fund SENTRAL’s 
operations and meet its financial obligations. In addition, the Manager also monitors and 
observes the SC REIT Guidelines concerning the limits to total borrowings and ensures 
compliance with stated financial covenants per terms of its borrowings.

		  Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

		  The table below summarises the maturity profile of SENTRAL’s liabilities at the reporting date 
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

 On demand 
 or within 
 one year 

 One to five 
 years 

 Over five 
 years  Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

As at 31 December 2022

Trade and other payables *  20,190,089  -  -  20,190,089 

Borrowings  35,767,829  889,650,310  -  925,418,139 

Security deposits  5,310,213  16,303,261  -  21,613,474 

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities  61,268,131  905,953,571  -  967,221,702 

As at 31 December 2021

Trade and other payables *  18,623,285  -  -  18,623,285 

Borrowings  153,855,760  736,233,747  -  890,089,507 

Security deposits  12,702,221  8,324,876  5,276,936  26,304,033 

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities  185,181,266  744,558,623  5,276,936  935,016,825 

		  * Trade and other payables excludes deferred lease income.

	 (d)	 Market risk

		  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and unit fund prices 
which will affect SENTRAL’s financial results or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
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35.	 Capital management

	 The Manager aims to optimise SENTRAL’s capital structure and cost of capital within the borrowing 
limits set out in the SC REIT Guidelines and uses a combination of debt and equity to fund future 
acquisitions and improvement works. The strategies involve:

	 (i)	 Adopting and maintaining an optimal gearing level; and

	 (ii)	 Adopting an active interest rate management strategy to manage the risk associated with 
changes in interest rates,

	 While maintaining flexibility in SENTRAL’s capital structure to meet future investment and/or capital 
expenditure requirements.	

	 Pursuant to Clause 8.32 of the SC REIT Guidelines, the total borrowings of a real estate investment 
trust (including borrowings through issuance of debt securities), should not exceed 50% of its total 
asset value at the time the borrowings are incurred.

	 The Manager employs a combination of appropriate and flexible debt and financing policies to 
manage both current and future funding requirements of SENTRAL. The Manager, on an on-going 
basis, manages the capital structure of SENTRAL and makes adjustments to it when necessary, in the 
light of changes in economic conditions.

 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Total borrowings 21  804,493,923  805,649,036 

Total assets  2,146,717,146  2,180,376,227 

Gearing ratio (%)  37.48  36.95 

36.	 Segmental reporting

	 No segmental reporting is prepared as SENTRAL’s activities are predominantly in one industry 
segment and its properties are situated in Malaysia.
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Total number of units issued	  : 	 1,071,783,000			 
Voting rights	  : 	 One vote per unit			 
Number of unit holders	  : 	 10,968			
					   
					   

DISTRIBUTION OF UNITHOLDINGS AS AT 2 February 2023

Unit Class
No. of

Unitholders
% of

Unitholders
No. of

Unitholdings
% of

Unitholdings

Less than 100 131 1.19 1,522 0.00

100 - 1,000 1,929 17.59 1,274,354 0.12

1,001 - 10,000 5,425 49.46 28,069,424 2.62

10,001 - 100,000 3,038 27.70 100,441,700 9.37

100,001 to less than 5% of issued units 441 4.02 339,131,200 31.64

5% and above of issued units 4 0.04 602,864,800 56.25

TOTAL 10,968 100.00 1,071,783,000 100.00

List of Top 30 Holders as at 2 February 2023

NO. NAME HOLDINGS %

1 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RHB ISLAMIC BANK BERHAD PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT 
FOR MALAYSIAN RESOURCES CORPORATION BERHAD

297,917,000 27.80

2 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD

128,867,800 12.02

3 HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
HSBC-FS FOR CAPITACOMMERCIAL TRUST

117,040,000 10.92

4 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR QUILL LAND SDN. BHD.

59,040,000 5.51

5 KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) 44,577,100 4.16

6 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA

35,000,000 3.27

7 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA

22,919,300 2.14

8 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 2 - WAWASAN

20,000,000 1.87

9 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA 2

20,000,000 1.87

	



230 Annual Report 2022
SENTRAL REIT

List of Top 30 Holders as at 2 February 2023  (cont’d)

NO. NAME HOLDINGS %

10 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (PAR 1)

11,874,500 1.11

11 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ZURICH LIFE INSURANCE 
MALAYSIA BERHAD (NP-OTHER-REITS)

11,273,900 1.05

12 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 3

11,000,000 1.03

13 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ZURICH LIFE INSURANCE 
MALAYSIA BERHAD (LIFE PAR)

9,326,900 0.87

14 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR AHMAD JOHARI BIN ABDUL RAZAK (PB)

5,917,300 0.55

15 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN)  
(AHAM AM EQ)

4,957,400 0.46

16 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) 
(ESPG IV SC E)

3,281,600 0.31

17 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ZURICH LIFE INSURANCE 
MALAYSIA BERHAD (AP-REITS)

3,207,900 0.30

18 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CREDIT GUARANTEE CORPORATION MALAYSIA BERHAD 
(416581)

3,203,900 0.30

19 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
CBNY FOR DFA INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE SECURITIES 
PORTFOLIO OF DFA INVESTMENT DIMENSIONS GROUP INC

3,104,400 0.29

20 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG SIEW HUNG

2,990,000 0.28

21 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ZURICH GENERAL INSURANCE 
MALAYSIA  BERHAD (GI-REITS)

2,853,700 0.27

22 UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD ( A/C CLIENTS )

2,465,600 0.23

23 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR WONG SIEW HUNG (PB)

2,252,100 0.21

ANALYSIS OF
UNITHOLDINGS
As at 2 February 2023
(cont’d)
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NO. NAME HOLDINGS %

24 YEAP AH KAU @ YEAP CHAN TOOI 2,121,000 0.20

25 CIMB GROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HONG LEONG ASSET MANAGEMENT BHD FOR CHE KING TOW 
(ND100-JA)

2,100,000 0.20

26 MALAYSIAN RESOURCES CORPORATION BERHAD 1,551,000 0.14

27 TEW PENG HWEE @ TEOH PENG HWEE 1,500,000 0.14

28 TAN CHUAN YONG 1,498,200 0.14

29 QUILL RESOURCES HOLDING SDN BHD 1,475,000 0.14

30 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR RAM HOLDINGS BERHAD (PB)

1,328,400 0.12

834,644,000 77.87

SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS AS AT 2 FEBRUARY 2023
			 

Name 

	 No of Units Held

Direct % Indirect %

Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad  299,468,000  27.94  -    -   

Employees Provident Fund board  128,867,800  12.02  -    -   

Capitacommercial Trust  117,040,000  10.92  -    -   

Quill Land Sdn Bhd  59,040,000  5.51  -    - 
  
				  
UNITHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER AS AT 2 FEBRUARY 2023
				  

Name 

	 No of Units Held

Direct % Indirect %

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon  -    -    *757,000  0.07 

Kwan Joon Hoe  450,000  0.04  -    -   

Po Yih Ming  20,000  0.00  -    - 
  
*	 Deemed interest by way of his substantial shareholding in Morningale Sdn. Bhd. and Jendela Elit Sdn. 

Bhd., which in turn are substantial shareholders of Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.

ANALYSIS OF
UNITHOLDINGS

As at 2 February 2023
(cont’d)
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SENTRAL REIT
(A real estate investment trust constituted under the laws of Malaysia)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Eleventh Annual General Meeting (“11th AGM”) of Sentral REIT 
will be held virtually through live streaming from the Broadcast Venue at KL Sentral Room, Level 30, 
Menara Allianz Sentral, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur on 
Wednesday, 12 April 2023 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes: 

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2022 of Sentral REIT together with the Trustee’s Report to the 
Unitholders issued by Maybank Trustees Berhad, as the trustee for Sentral 
REIT (“Trustee”) and the Statement by the Manager issued by Sentral REIT 
Management Sdn Bhd, as the Manager of Sentral REIT (“Manager”) and the 
Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 1)

 
 
 
 

As Special Business:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without 
modifications:

2. Proposed authority to allot and issue new units of Sentral REIT
 
“THAT subject to the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and the approval of the relevant regulatory authorities 
being obtained, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the 
Manager, to issue and allot new units in Sentral REIT (“New Units”) at any time 
in such number and to such person and upon such terms and conditions as 
the Directors of the Manager, may in their absolute discretion, deem fit and 
expedient in the best interest of Sentral REIT, provided that the aggregate 
number of the New Units to be issued pursuant to this resolution, when 
aggregated with the number of units issued during the preceding 12 months 
must not exceed 20% of the total number of issued units of Sentral REIT for the 
time being comprising 1,071,783,000 units (“Proposed Authority”);
 
THAT the Proposed Authority shall continue to be in force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next AGM of Sentral REIT at which time this 
Proposed Authority will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the next 
AGM, the authority is renewed; or 

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the unitholders 
is required by law to be held; or

(iii)	 The Proposed Authority is revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the 
unitholders in a general meeting of Sentral REIT,

whichever is earlier; 

Ordinary Resolution

NOTICE OF ELEVENTH
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THAT the New Units to be issued pursuant to the Proposed Authority shall, 
upon allotment and issue, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing units 
except that the New Units will not be entitled to any income distribution, right, 
benefit, entitlement and/or any other distributions that may be declared prior 
to the date of allotment and issuance of such New Units;

THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Manager 
and the Trustee, acting for and on behalf of Sentral REIT, to give effect 
to the Proposed Authority with full powers to assent to any conditions, 
modifications, variations and/or amendments as they may deem fit in the best 
interest of Sentral REIT and/or may be imposed by the relevant authorities;  

AND THAT the Directors of the Manager and the Trustee, acting for and on 
behalf of Sentral REIT, be and are hereby authorised to implement, finalise, 
complete and do all acts, deeds and things (including executing such 
documents as may be required) in relation to the Proposed Authority.”

 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd 
(The Manager of Sentral REIT)

Mohamed Noor Rahim bin Yahaya
MAICSA 0866820 / SSM PC No. 202008002339
Ho Ngan Chui
MAICSA 7014785 / SSM PC No. 202008001773

Company Secretaries

 
Kuala Lumpur
28 February 2023

Notes:

1.	 Only Unitholders whose name appear in the Record of Depositors of Sentral REIT on 3 April 2023 shall be 
eligible to participate at the 11th AGM or to appoint proxies on their behalf.

2.	 A Unitholder who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint another person to 
attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a Unitholder.

3.	 Where a Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless it specifies the 
proportions of its holdings to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 Where a Unitholder is an exempt authorised nominee which holds the units for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised 
nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of its attorney 
duly authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal or under the 
hand of an officer or attorney so authorised.

NOTICE OF ELEVENTH
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6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it 
is signed or a notarially certified copy of such power or authority shall be deposited at the Registered 
Address of Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd at Level 33A, Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun 
Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the 
time appointed for holding the 11th AGM or any adjournment thereof, either by hand, post, fax to (603) 
27807668 or email to azeela@mrcb.com / irene@mrcb.com. If no name is inserted in the space for the 
name of your proxy, the Chairman of the 11th AGM will act as your proxy. 

Explanatory Notes on Ordinary and Special Business:

1.	 Item 1 of the Agenda

	 The Audited Financial Statements under Agenda 1 are laid before the Unitholders for discussion only in 
accordance with Clause 13.18(b) of the Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trust issued by the 
Securities Commission Malaysia on 15 March 2018, the audited financial statements do not require a 
formal approval of the unitholders and hence, the matter is not put forward for voting.

2.	 Item 2 of the Agenda – Proposed Authority

	 The proposed ordinary resolution, if passed, will give a mandate to the Directors of the Manager to issue 
and allot units of Sentral REIT from time to time provided that the aggregate number of the New Units to 
be issued, when aggregated with the number of units issued during the preceding 12 months does not 
exceed 20% of the total number of issued units of Sentral REIT for the time being. This Proposed Authority, 
unless revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the Unitholders at a general meeting of Sentral REIT, 
will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of Sentral REIT.

	 As at the date of this notice, Sentral REIT has not issued any units under the mandate which was 
approved at the 10th AGM held on 6 April 2022 and which will lapse at the conclusion of the 11th AGM.

	 The Proposed Authority will allow Sentral REIT the flexibility to allot and issue New Units to raise funds 
to finance future investments, acquisitions and capital expenditure projects to enhance the value of 
Sentral REIT and/or to refinance existing debt as well as for working capitals purposes without convening 
a general meeting, which may delay the capital raising initiatives and incur relevant costs in organising 
the required general meeting. 

NOTICE OF ELEVENTH
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SENTRAL REIT
(A real estate investment trust constituted under the laws of Malaysia)

ADMINISTRATIVE NOTES TO UNITHOLDERS OF SENTRAL REIT 
FOR THE 11TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“11TH AGM”)

MODE OF MEETING

Day and Date Wednesday, 12 April 2023

Time 10.00 a.m.

Registration Virtual Meeting via Remote Participation and Electronic Voting (“RPEV”) 
facilities 

Online Meeting Platform https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my/

Mode of Communication Questions can be posed to the Board via real time submission of typed texts 
at https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my/ during live streaming of the 11th 
AGM.

This web portal will remain open until such time before the poll voting 
session ends.

Kindly note that it is your responsibility to ensure that the stability of the internet connectivity throughout 
the 11th AGM are maintained, as the quality of the live webcast and online remote voting are dependent 
on the bandwidth and stability of the participant’s internet connection.

MEMBERS ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE AND VOTE

l	 Only Depositors whose names appear on the General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 3 April 
2023 (“General Meeting ROD”) shall be entitled to participate at the 11th AGM or appoint a 
proxy(ies) to attend and vote on their behalf.

REMOTE PARTICIPATION AND ELECTRONIC VOTING (“RPEV”)

l	 Unitholders and proxies who wish to participate at the 11th AGM may do so using any of the 
following methods to participate and vote remotely:

	 (i)	 Launch LUMI AGM by scanning the QR code given to you in the email along with your remote 
participate User ID and Password; or

	 (ii)	 Access to LUMI AGM via website URL https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my 

l	 The RPEV facilities will open for registration from Tuesday, 28 February 2023 until such time before 
the poll voting session ends at the 11th AGM on Wednesday, 12 April 2023.

l	 Please refer to the steps below on the registration with Boardroom Smart Investor Portal (“BSIP”) and 
to request for remote participation User ID and Password for joining the Virtual Meeting Portal to 
participate at the 11th AGM.

ADMINISTRATIVE NOTES
TO UNITHOLDERS OF SENTRAL REIT

For The 11TH Annual General Meeting (“11TH AGM”)
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Procedure Action

BEFORE THE 11th AGM DAY 

Step 1 – Register Online 
with BSIP (for f irst time 
registration only) 
[Note: If you have already 
signed up with BSIP, 
you are not required to 
register again. You may 
proceed to Step 2 to submit 
your request for Remote 
Participation user ID and 
password.]

a.	 Access BSIP website at https://investor.boardroomlimited.com 
b.	 Click <<Register>> to sign up as a user. 
c.	 Please select the correct account type i.e. sign up as “Shareholder” or 

“Corporate Holder” 
d.	 Complete the registration with all required information. Upload a copy 

of your or representative’s MyKAD/Identification Card (front and back) 
or Passport. 

e.	 For Corporate Holder, kindly upload the authorization letter as well. 
Click “Sign Up”. 

f.	 You will receive an email f rom Boardroom for email address 
verification. Click “Verify Email Address” from the email received to 
continue with the registration.

g.	 Once your email address is verif ied, you will be re-directed to 
Boardroom Smart Investor Portal for verification of mobile number. 
Click “Request OTP Code” and an OTP Code will be sent to the 
registered mobile number. You will need to enter the OTP Code and 
click “Enter” to complete the process. 

h.	 Your registration will be verified and approved within one (1) business 
day and email notification will be provided to you. 

Step 2 – Submit Request 
for Remote Participation 
User ID and Password
(Note: Registration for 
remote access will be 
opened on Tuesday, 28 
February 2023. The RPEV 
facilities will open for 
registration from Tuesday, 
28 February 2023 until 
such time before the poll 
voting session ends at the 
11th AGM on Wednesday, 
12 April 2023)

Individual Unitholders

a.	 Login to https://investor.boardroomlimited.com using your user ID and 
password from Step 1 above.

b.	 Select “ELEVENTH (11TH) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING” from the list 
of Corporate Meetings and click “Enter”.

c.	 Click on “Register for RPEV”
d.	 Read and agree to the Terms & Conditions and click “Next”.
e.	 Enter your CDS Account and thereafter submit your request.
f.	 You will receive a notification that your RPEV registration has been 

received and is being verified.
g.	 Upon system verif ication against General Meeting ROD, you will 

receive an email from Boardroom either approving or rejecting your 
registration for remote participation.

h.	 If your registration is approved, you will also receive your remote access 
user ID and password in the same email from Boardroom after the 
closing date.

Corporate Unitholders, Authorised Nominee and Exempt Authorised 
Nominee

a. 	 Write in to BSR at bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com by providing 
the name of unitholders and CDS Account Number accompanied 
with the Form of Proxy or Certificate of Appointment of Corporate 
Representative.

b. 	 Please provide a copy of the proxy holder’s MyKad/Identification Card 
(front and back) or Passport in JPEG, PNG or PDF format as well as his/
her email address.

c. 	 You will receive notification from Boardroom that your request(s) has 
been received and is being verified.

d. 	 Upon system verification against the General Meeting ROD, you will 
receive an email from Boardroom either approving or rejecting your 
registration for remote participation.

e.	 If your registration is approved, you will also receive your remote access 
user ID and password in the same email from Boardroom after the 
closing date.

ADMINISTRATIVE NOTES
TO UNITHOLDERS OF SENTRAL REIT
For The 11TH Annual General Meeting (“11TH AGM”)
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Procedure Action

ON THE 11TH AGM DAY (WEDNESDAY, 12 APRIL 2023)

Step 3 – Login to Virtual 
Meeting Portal
[Please note that the 
quality of the connectivity 
to Virtual Meeting Portal 
for the live web cast as well 
as for remote online voting 
is highly dependent on the 
bandwidth and the stability 
of the internet connectivity 
available at the location of 
the remote users.]

a. 	 The Virtual Meeting Portal will open for login starting an hour (1 hour) 
before the commencement of AGM at 9.00 a.m. on Wednesday, 12 
April 2023.

b.	 Open an internet browser. Latest versions of Chrome, Firefox or Safari is 
recommended.

c.	 Access virtual meeting website at: https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my
d. 	 Follow the steps given to you in the email along with your remote 

access user ID and password to login to the Online Meeting Platform 
(Refer to Step 2 above).

e. 	 The steps will also guide you on how to view live web cast, to submit 
questions and vote.

f. 	 The live web cast will end and the Messaging window will be disabled 
once the Chairman announces the closure of the AGM.

g. 	You can now logout from Virtual Meeting Portal.

LODGEMENT OF PROXY FORM FOR THE 11TH AGM
 
Please submit your Proxy Form, either by hand or by post to the following address, or by electronic mail 
to azeela@mrcb.com / irene@mrcb.com or fax to (603) 27807668, not less than 48 hours before the 
time appointed for holding the 11th AGM or any adjournment thereof, otherwise the Proxy Form shall be 
treated as invalid:

Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd,
Level 33A, Menara NU 2,

No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan,
Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470

Kuala Lumpur.

Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the proxy form are completed, signed and dated 
accordingly.

Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by a power of attorney must be deposited 
at Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd, Level 33A, Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, 
Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur. not later than Monday, 10th April 2023 at 10.00 a.m. to 
participate via RPEV facilities in the AGM. A copy of the power of attorney may be accepted provided 
that it is certified notarially and/or in accordance with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant 
jurisdiction in which it is executed.

For a corporate shareholder who has appointed a representative, please deposit the ORIGINAL Certificate 
of Appointment at Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd, Level 33A, Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun 
Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur. not later than Monday, 10th April 2023 
at 10.00 a.m. to participate via RPEV facilities in the AGM. The Certificate of Appointment should be 
executed in the following manner:

1.	 If the corporate shareholder has a common seal, the Certificate of Appointment should be executed 
under the common seal in accordance with the constitution of the corporate shareholder.

2.	 If the corporate shareholder does not have a common seal, the Certificate of Appointment should be 
affixed with the rubber stamp of the corporate member (if any) and executed by:

	 a.	 at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a director; or
	 b.	 any director and/or authorised officers in accordance with the laws of the country under which 

the corporate shareholder is incorporated.
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PARTICIPATION THROUGH LIVE WEBCAST, QUESTION AND VOTING AT THE ONLINE AGM

l	 The Chairman and the Board of Directors will endeavor their best to respond to the questions 
submitted by Unitholders which are related to the resolutions to be tabled at the 11th AGM, as well as 
the financial performance and prospects of the Company.

l	 The voting will be conducted by way of electronic polling (“e-Polling”) in accordance with Paragraph 
8.29A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. Sentral REIT 
has appointed Boardroom as the Poll Administrator to conduct the e-Polling, and an Independent 
Scrutineer will verify and validate the poll results.

l	 During the AGM, the Chairman of the Meeting will invite the Poll Administrator to brief participants 
on the e-Polling housekeeping rules. 

l	 The voting session will commence as soon as the Chairman calls for the poll to be opened and until 
such time when the Chairman announces the closure of the poll.

l	 For the purposes of the AGM, e-Polling will be carried out via personal smart mobile phones, tablets, 
personal computers or laptops.

l	 There are two (2) methods for members and proxies to vote remotely. The methods are:

	 (i) 	 Use QR Scanner Code given to you in the email along with your remote participation user ID 
and password; OR

	 (iii) 	 Go to the website with URL https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my

l	 Upon the conclusion of the poll session, the Independent Scrutineer will verify and announce the poll 
results followed by a declaration by the Chairman of the Meeting whether the resolutions put to vote 
were successfully carried or not.

PRESENTATION AT THE ONLINE AGM 

Unitholders who participate in the online AGM will be able to view Sentral REIT’s presentation or slides via 
the Online Meeting Platform.

PROCEDURE OF THE ONLINE AGM

The Login User Guide for participation, posing questions and voting at the 11th AGM, will be emailed to 
you together with your remote access user ID and password once your registration has been approved.

No recording or photography of the AGM proceedings is allowed without the prior written 
permission of Sentral REIT or Sentral REIT Management Sdn Bhd, the Manager of Sentral REIT.

You must ensure that you are connected to the internet at all times in order to participate and vote when 
the AGM has commenced. Therefore, it is your responsibility to ensure that connectivity for the duration 
of the meeting is maintained. Kindly note that the quality of the live streaming is dependent on the 
bandwidth and stability of the internet connection at the location of the remote participants.

DOOR GIFTS

There will be no door gift(s) for members / proxies who participate in the AGM.

ADMINISTRATIVE NOTES
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ANNUAL REPORT 2022 

l	 The following documents the available at https://sentralreit.com for your preview.

	 (i)	 Sentral REIT Annual Report FY2022
	 (ii)	 Sentral REIT Governance Report 2022 
	 (iii)	 Notice of the 11th AGM 
	 (iv)	 Proxy Form 

l	 If you need a copy of the printed Annual Report FY2022, kindly request by submitting the Request 
Form attached or through telephone/email to our Share Registrar at the number/email address given 
below:

	 Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn. Bhd.
	 Registration No: 199601006647 (378993-D)
	 11th Floor, Menara Symphony
	 No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13,
	 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia.
	 Tel : +603 7890 4700
	 Fax: +603 7890 4670
	 Email: bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com

GENERAL ENQUIRIES

l	 For enquiries on the administrative details of this meeting, please contact the following persons 
during office hours from Mondays to Fridays:

Company Personnel Email and Contact Number

Sentral REIT For members’ enquiries
Puan Irene Ho 

Puan Norazeela Hasan

For Investor Relations
Puan Joyce Loh

irene@mrcb.com
Tel: 603 2786 8061

azeela@mrcb.com
Tel: 603 2786 8057

joyce.loh@sentralreit.com
Tel: 603 2859 7175

Boardroom Share Registrar 
Sdn. Bhd.
- 	 For members/proxies’ 
enquiries

- 	 For assistance relating to 
the electronic lodgement 
of proxy form of AGM as 
well as RPEV

bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com
Tel: 603 7890 4700
Fax: 603 7890 4670
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SENTRAL REIT 

Number of Unit(s) held CDS Account No.

- -

I/We (FULL NAME IN CAPITAL LETTERS) 

NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.  of (FULL ADDRESS) 

Email address:  Tel. /Mobile No.:  

being a Unitholder/Unitholders of Sentral REIT hereby appoint:

Name of Proxy in capital letters

Proportion of Unitholdings to be represented by 
the proxies:

Number of Units Percentage [%]

Proxy 1
NRIC No./Passport No.:

Email Address:

Tel. /Mobile No.:

And/or failing him/her

Proxy 2
NRIC No./Passport No.:

Email Address:

Tel. /Mobile No.:

Total

or failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our 
behalf at the Eleventh Annual General Meeting (“11th AGM”) of Sentral REIT to be held virtually through live 
streaming from the Broadcast Venue at KL Sentral Room, Level 30, Menara Allianz Sentral, No. 203, Jalan Tun 
Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 12 April 2023 at 10.00 a.m. and at 
any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxies is to vote on the Resolution as indicated by an “X” in the appropriate spaces below. If this form is 
returned without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy shall vote or abstain as he/she thinks fi t.

No. Resolution For Against
1 Proposed Authority

Dated this  day of  2023

 Signature of Unitholder

* DELETE IF NOT APPLICABLE

PROXY FORM
(Please see the notes below before completing the form)

Notes:
Proxy

1. Only Unitholders whose name appear in the Record of Depositors of Sentral REIT on 3 April 2023 shall be eligible to 
participate at the 11th AGM or to appoint proxies on their behalf.

2. A Unitholder who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint another person to attend and vote 
in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a Unitholder.

3. Where a Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless it specifi es the proportions of its 
holdings to be represented by each proxy.

4. Where a Unitholder is an exempt authorised nominee which holds the units for multiple benefi cial owners in one 
securities account, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in 
respect of each omnibus account it holds.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of its attorney duly authorised 
in writing or if the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal or under the hand of an offi cer or attorney so 
authorised.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or 
a notarially certifi ed copy of such power or authority shall be deposited at the Registered Address of Sentral REIT 
Management Sdn Bhd at Level 33A, Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 
Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the 11th AGM or any 
adjournment thereof, either by hand, post, fax to (603) 27807668 or email to azeela@mrcb.com / irene@mrcb.com.  If 
no name is inserted in the space for the name of your proxy, the Chairman of the 11th AGM will act as your proxy. 
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